
Norwich Selectboard 

Regular Meeting – November 8, 2023 – 6:30 p.m. 

 Participation: Hybrid Physical Location: Tracy Hall meeting room 
ZOOM access information: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89116638939 Meeting ID: 891 1663 8939 

US Toll-free: 888-475-4499 (Press *9 to raise hand; Press *6 to unmute after recognized by 

Chair) 

Welcome 

1. Agenda............................................................................................................. Motion required.

Budget Presentations…………………………………………………6:30 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. 

Public Comments for Items not on the Agenda. 

Action Items for motions – Introduction by the chair on items being decided, any related 

correspondence, public comment, SB discussion, SB action. 

2. Committee Appointment for Recreation Council: youth member (tabled from

10/25/2023)...............................................................................................…..Motion possible. 
3. Town Clerk request to spend monies from Records Restoration Account #45..Motion

possible.

4. Preservation Assistance Grant for Smaller Institutions (Funding Opportunity Number:

20240111-PG) from the National Endowment for the Humanities.………...Motion(s) possible. 

5. Fire Department request to spend monies for Apparatus from Fund#__…Motion possible.

6.  Police Dept. request to spend monies for equipment from Fund #21 …… Motion possible. 

7.  Hemlock Road Update and Possible Decisions…………………………Motion(s) possible. 

8. Update on Collective Bargaining Union Negotiations, Executive Session pursuant to 1 V.S.A.

§ 313(a)(1)(B) to discuss labor relation agreements with employees.…….Motion(s) anticipated. 

Correspondence, AP Warrant, Minutes – SB considers each category. Public comment 

possible. 

9. Minutes – October 25, 2023 meeting minutes............................................ Motion(s) required. 

10. Correspondence........................................................................................... Motion required.

11. AP Warrant(s)…………………………………. ………............................ Motion(s) possible. 

Informational Items – Important information for which there will be no immediate action. 
• Police Chief search, Town Manager Information

Reports Submitted -- Reports from appointed committees, departments, or other town-related 

entities 

submitted without comment or request for agenda time. The chair will identify such reports for 

the 

record, and the SB may or may not determine action is necessary. 

• November 21, 2023 meeting

Discussion Items – Issues being framed for future action. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89116638939


• None this time 

Future Meeting Dates and Potential Topics 
 

Day Date Meeting Type Time & Content 
Time & 

Content 

11/8/2023 Wednesday Regular: in Tracy Hall & Zoom & JAM 

6:30-8:00 Budget 

presentation & 

discussion 

8:00-? 

Other 

business 

11/15/2023 Wednesday Special: Remote only Zoom & JAM 

6:30-8:00 Budget 

presentation & 

discussion 
No other 

business 

11/21/2023 Tuesday 

Special (not Wednesday because of 

Thanksgiving) & Regular (4th week of the 

month):  in Tracy Hall & Zoom & JAM 

6:30-8:00 Budget 

presentation & 

discussion 

8:00-? 

Other 

business 

11/29/2023 Wednesday Special: Remote only Zoom & JAM 
6:30-8:00 Budget 

only 
No other 

business 

12/6/2023 Wednesday Special: Remote only Zoom & JAM 
6:30-8:00 Budget 

only 
No other 

business 

12/13/2023 Wednesday Regular: in Tracy Hall & Zoom & JAM 

6:30-8:00 Budget 

presentation & 

discussion 

8:00-? 

Other 

business 
 

• Ongoing and future work 
• Interim Town Manager’s Office 

o Personnel Policies – work in progress 

o H.R. structure, ID nature of assistance, scope/purpose – work in progress 

o Budget preparation for FY 24 – in progress 

• Selectboard 

o Handbook for Committees, Boards, Commissions – in progress 

o Committees:  coordination with overall town priorities – beginning soon 

o Norwich/Sharon Town Line – to begin 

o Public Safety – on-going hiring 

o Financial Policies & Procedures – on-going review 

 

Adjournment 
 

 



11/2/2023

1

Capital Planning

Town of Norwich, VT

Table of
Contents

Introduction
3

Defining Capital Assets
5

Defining Capital Funds
15

Capital Planning- Part I 
Historic Overview

18

Capital Planning- Part II
Creating a Purchasing Schedule

23

Capital Planning- Part III 
Data Analysis

26

Capital Planning- Next Steps 
33

1

2



11/2/2023

2

Introduction
oMunicipal Budgeting:
1. What is a budget? A budget is a spending forecast drawn up to provide guidance to the

governing body to meet revenue and expenditure needs for a defined period of time. It 
is based on current period known data and projections, and therefore cannot predict the 
actual expenditure costs. Because “life happens,” it is expected that actual line-item 
expenses will vary to some degree. 

2. The basics of creating a budget consist of reviewing historic actual expenses, forecasting 
costs for the future period and incorporating “savings” for long-term planning and 
projects. 

3. A Capital Plan is essential to a sound budget since Capital expenses are typically large 
expenses incurred at various frequencies based on the item’s useful life. Therefore, these 
costs should be budgeted and set aside annually in amounts sufficient to meet the capital 
costs to be incurred at a future date. A Capital Plan is a living document and as such, 
should be reviewed and updated each budget season.

Introduction
oWhat we have accomplished in the last year:

• Redesigned the Fund Report to include the Fund Restriction types
• Inventoried and audited the list of fixed assets to arrive at a replaceable asset list
• Identified the Committed Capital Funds and their asset spending types

o In this presentation we will:
• Define Capital Assets and align them with their corresponding committed 

capital fund
• Review a 10-year history of capital fund allocations
• Look at the framework used in the capital purchasing plan
• Analyze capital funding needs
• Seek direction for next steps in planning for the FY25 budget and beyond

3

4



11/2/2023

3

Defining 
Capital Assets

What are Capital Assets ?

Capital Assets are “significant” pieces of property 
with a useful life longer than a year that is not 
intended for sale in the regular course of the 

business.  
Capital Assets are defined as assets that meet the

thresholds established in the Capital Policy.
Examples: Cars, Trucks, Bridges, Art, Land 

5

6



11/2/2023

4

Understanding  Capitalization 
Thresholds

• Thresholds as established by policy are used to determine whether a purchase is to 
be capitalized. Not all purchases over the threshold are capital purchases.

• There must be a tangible asset involved to be considered as a capital asset
• Each item purchased must meet both thresholds:

• Minimum purchase price per unit
• Expected life in service

 

The Tests

Capitalization Thresholds
Town of Norwich, VT  

 

7

8



11/2/2023

5

Understanding  Capitalization 
Thresholds

Example 1

Invoice totaling $45,000 for the purchase of a police cruiser and $7,500 for misc. items 
to outfit the car. The cruiser is expected to need replacing in 7 years.

Is this a capital purchase? 
Yes. The total capitalized is $52,500 (Purchase price plus the outfitting). It meets 
the minimum purchase threshold of $5000 and the life expectancy of 5-20 years.

 

Understanding  Capitalization 
Thresholds
Example 2

Invoice totaling $15,000 for the purchase of 5 Long Guns for the police 
department. The guns are expected to need replacing in 7 years.

Is this a capital purchase? 
No. Each gun costs $3,000 which is below the minimum threshold.

 

9

10



11/2/2023

6

Understanding  Capitalization 
Thresholds
Example 3

Invoice totaling $5,200 to purchase a laptop, install the software and acquire the 
periphery equipment (printer/scanner; keyboard, monitors) for one user.  The 

laptop/periphery items are expected to need replacing in 3 years.
Is this a capital purchase? 

No. The service life is below the required threshold for the estimated life.
No. The individual components do not meet the purchase threshold.

 

What is Capital
Infrastructure ?

Capital Infrastructure refers to projects that help maintain or improve 
a town asset. These improvements can refer to 

purchases/additions/improvements to buildings, roads, bridges etc.. 
They often accrue expenses over several years to reach the full cost. If 
they are to be classified as capital infrastructure, they must meet the 

infrastructure thresholds as defined by policy.
Examples: building a new public safety building, renovating Tracy Hall, paving roads, 

rehabilitating/replacing bridges. 

11

12



11/2/2023

7

Understanding  Capitalization 
Thresholds
Example 4

Invoice totaling $20,000 for the repairs on Bridge A.  The Bridge is expected to 
need no more repairs for the next 30 years.

Is this a capital purchase? 
No. This is infrastructure and therefore, the minimum capitalization threshold 

has not been met. 
 

Understanding  Capitalization 
Thresholds
Example 5

There are 3 invoices totaling $52,000 for fixing the culverts and then repaving and 
lining miles 23 to 100 on road G. We paid for this work with $41,600 of grant 
money and the balance ($10,400) from our capital paving fund. This section of 

road should not need repairs again for the next 15 years.
Is this a capital purchase? 

Yes. This is infrastructure and meets both the $25,000 minimum and the service 
life thresholds. Capitalization of an item is not affected by how the town paid for 

the project but by the cost of the project.  
 

13

14



11/2/2023

8

Defining 
Capital Funds

What are Capital Funds ?

Capital funds are established by the voters who allocate money each year 
as part of the general fund budget to save for the capital projects as 

defined in the fund’s purpose. These committed funds are then restricted 
to be spent only as the voters intended as stated in the fund’s purpose.

The Selectboard serves as the elected agent for approving expenses from 
capital funds. They are tasked with authorizing the project spending in 

keeping with the voters’ purpose as the money is available.
IE: Police Cruisers from Fund-11 or Paving Projects from Fund -42. 

15

16



11/2/2023

9

Capital Funds

Capital Planning

Part 1 - Historic 
Overview

17

18



11/2/2023

10

10 Year History Comparison
Actual Allocations vs COLA Increases

Total shortfall based on level FY15 funding is $2,046,099.
FY24 Actual Allocations were $482,000
COLA Increased Allocations for FY24 would have been $787,593

See Slides 21-22 for Details

 $-

 $100,000

 $200,000

 $300,000

 $400,000

 $500,000

 $600,000

 $700,000

 $800,000

 $900,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

10 Year Allocation Comparison

Actual Allocations 2015 Allocations with COLA increases

Actual Allocations 
from Approved 
Budgets FY15-
FY23

With COLA 
increases based 
on FY15 
allocations

10 Year History Comparison
Dollar Change in Allocations

Changes are based on the FY15 allocation total of 682,258.
Sum of all actual allocations 2015- 2024 was $4,776,481.
Level Funding at 2015 rates would have been $6,822,580.
Allocations decreased 30% over the 10-yr period See Slides 21-22 for Details

(500,000)

(400,000)

(300,000)

(200,000)

(100,000)

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

10 Year Allocation Change 

$ Change Over Prior Year $ Change Since 2015

19

20



11/2/2023

11

10 Year History Summary
See Slide 22 for Details

Summary Data 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Shortfall

$ Change Over Prior Year (122,136) 27,353 19,135 (23,000) (312,500) (50,110) 186,078 (31,860) 106,782

% Change Over Prior Year 82.1% 104.9% 103.3% 96.2% 46.5% 81.5% 184.2% 92.2% 128.5%

$ Change Since 2015 ($122,136) ($94,783) ($75,648) ($98,648) ($411,148) ($461,258) ($275,180) ($307,040) ($200,258) ($2,046,099)

% Change Since 2015 82.1% 86.1% 88.9% 85.5% 39.7% 32.4% 59.7% 55.0% 70.6%

Fiscal Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
COLA rate 1% 1% 1.12% 1.08% 1.26% 1.46% 1.62% 2.50% 3.46% 3.84%
2015 Allocations with COLA increases 682,258$     689,081$    695,971$   703,766$     711,367$     720,330$     730,847$     742,687$   761,254$   787,593$     817,837$      

10 Year Allocation History by Fund
Fund # & Name 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Shortfall
05-Recreation Facility & Impr-Voters $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
06-Fire Apparatus Fund $63,298 $64,622 $65,975 $63,000 $60,000 $30,000 $15,000 $20,000 $65,018 $80,000 ($106,067)
07-Highway Equipment Fund 135,000$    135,000$    135,000$   40,000$      85,000$      40,000$      20,000$      40,000$     40,000$     75,000$       ($605,000)
08-Highway Garage Fund 63,460$      -$           -$          50,000$      25,000$      35,000$      25,000$      25,000$     25,000$     27,000$       ($359,140)
09-Solid Waste Equip Fund 8,000$        8,000$       8,000$       8,500$        6,500$        -$            -$            -$          -$          5,000$         ($36,000)
10-Police Station Fund 3,500$        -$           -$          -$            -$            -$            3,500$        ($28,000)
11-Police Cruiser 5,000$        5,000$       10,000$     10,000$      10,000$      10,000$      20,000$      -$          35,000$     35,000$       $90,000
13-Tracy Hall Fund -$           -$           -$          20,000$      20,000$      20,000$      -$            -$          -$          -$            $60,000
14-General Admin. Equipment Fund 55,000$      5,500$       5,500$       5,500$        5,500$        -$            5,500$        50,878$     15,000$     15,000$       ($386,622)
16-Recreation Fund-Dam -$           -$           -$          -$            -$            -$            -$            $0
17-Recreation Fund-Tennis Co 5,000$        4,500$       4,500$       4,500$        4,500$        -$            4,500$        10,200$     10,200$     10,000$       $7,900
19-Town Clerk Equipment Fund -$           -$           -$          -$            -$            -$            -$            -$          -$          -$            $0
21-Police Spec Equip Fund 5,000$        2,500$       2,500$       2,500$        2,500$        2,500$        2,500$        -$          5,000$       5,000$         ($20,000)
25-Fire Station Fund 4,000$        -$           -$          -$            -$            -$            -$            ($36,000)
26-Fire Equipment Fund 5,000$        5,000$       4,000$       20,610$      20,610$      20,610$      -$            20,000$     10,000$     30,000$       $85,830
27-Sidewalk Fund -$           -$           10,000$     10,000$      14,000$      -$            -$            14,000$     10,000$     10,000$       $68,000
28-Long Term Facility Study 5,000$        -$           17,000$     -$            -$            -$            -$            -$          -$          -$            ($28,000)
41-DPW-Bridge Fund 35,000$      35,000$      35,000$     85,000$      40,000$      88,000$      40,000$      157,000$   100,000$   100,000$     $365,000
42-DPW-Paving Fund 275,000$    275,000$    275,000$   275,000$     275,000$     -$            60,000$      60,000$     45,000$     75,000$       ($1,135,000)
43-Buildings & Grounds 10,000$      15,000$      15,000$     7,000$        7,000$        -$            -$            -$          -$          -$            ($46,000)
46-Generator Fund 5,000$        5,000$       -$          5,000$        8,000$        25,000$      25,000$      10,000$     15,000$     15,000$       $63,000
47-Public Safety Facility -$           -$           -$          -$            -$            -$            -$            -$          -$          -$            $0
TBD-Culvert Projects Fund -$           -$           -$          -$            -$            -$            -$            -$          -$          -$            $0
TBD- Roadway & Pedestrian Safety -$           -$           -$          -$            -$            -$            -$            $0
Grand Total 682,258$    560,122$    587,475$   606,610$     583,610$     271,110$     221,000$     407,078$   375,218$   482,000$     ($2,046,099)

21

22



11/2/2023

12

Capital Planning

Part 2 – Creating a 
Purchasing Schedule

Building the Schedule
 All Capital Funds were matched with a Department Manager 
 Each fixed assets active on the schedule per the FY23 Audit was matched with the department and 

capital fund purpose denoting replacement of that asset type.
 Department Mangers reviewed each fixed asset line item on the schedule and based on the condition 

of that item, set a year for replacement. Projections are charted for 20 years.
 Dept Managers researched current replacement costs for each item for the next few years and 

projected a replacement cost increase of 3-5% for future years (5 years plus).
 Dept Managers were asked to identify alternative funding streams available (IE: Grants, leases,

donations). 
 Alternative funding streams were incorporated into the purchasing schedule to reduce allocation 

needs and requests where possible.
 Dept Managers were asked to research lease/rental opportunities that might reduce purchase costs. 

(IE: rent a machine for the part of the year when in use rather than it sitting in the field)
 The purchasing schedule (year and amounts) is inserted into the Capital Plan to create the allocation

schedule.

23

24



11/2/2023

13

Capital Plan Sample 
Fund-08 Highway Garage- Purpose= Committed for Capital Building projects at Highway Garage.
Note Tag IMPRO-23TG- $500,000 spending needed on repairs over the next 4 years.
Ending Fund balance projections calculate the additions and spending for each fund each year. 
Repairs needed at the garage show a fund shortfall in 2027 0f $166,027 at current allocations.

Capital Planning

Part 3 – Data Analysis

25

26



11/2/2023

14

Comparison Data- Snapshots
Total Capital Fund Balances
Assumes allocation funding as shown 
on slide 31.
Expenses in some funds after 10 years 
have been curtailed or deferred 
because there are no funds available at 
the current allocation rates.
Replacement costs are expected to be
higher in future years. A 3-5% increase 
has been included on some items.

See Slides 30-32 for details.

($1,500,000)

($1,000,000)

($500,000)

$0

$500,000

$1,000,000

$1,500,000

$2,000,000

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

Total Capital Funds

Comparison Data- Snapshots 
Total Capital Allocations
Assumes allocation funding as shown 
on slide 31.
Allocations in future years have been 
close to level funded years 2026-2035.
Allocations are netted with donations, 
grants and leases where possible.

See Slides 30-32 for details. $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

Total Allocations

Total Allocations

27

28



11/2/2023

15

Comparison Data- Snapshots 
Allocations and Fund Balances
Overlay of slides 27 and 28
$1 million of capital funding over the 
next 10 years, gets us back on track.

See Slides 30-32 for details.

Summarizing the Fund Balances 
Purchasing plan ending fund balance projections are summarized by Fund and year. 

Fund # & Name 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
05-Recreation Facility & Impr-Voters $1,303 $60,610 $24,428 $39,428 $8,826 $28,826 ($1,174) $10,826
06-Fire Apparatus Fund $120,310 $62,534 $267,919 ($184,893) ($52,593) ($360,377) ($214,516) ($1,116,687)
07-Highway Equipment Fund $148,242 $150,449 $70,096 $270,096 $340,096 $525,096 $635,096 $360,096
08-Highway Garage Fund $102,664 $77,759 $155,798 $81,298 $13,298 ($154,027) ($235,227) ($297,027)
09-Solid Waste Equip Fund $34,187 $34,614 $39,614 $36,614 $33,614 $25,614 $17,614 $9,614
10-Police Station Fund $14,225 $14,403 $14,403 ($14,403)
11-Police Cruiser $66,171 $29,108 $48,548 $28,548 $28,548 $28,548 $28,548 $28,548
13-Tracy Hall Fund $66,214 $67,040 $67,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040
14-General Admin. Equipment Fund $89,589 $105,894 $120,894 $113,894 $108,894 $103,894 $98,894 $93,894
16-Recreation Fund-Dam $0 $5
17-Recreation Fund-Tennis Co $23,103 $33,719 $9,799 $309,799 $19,799 $29,799 $39,799 $49,799
19-Town Clerk Equipment Fund $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $3,000 $6,000 $9,000
21-Police Spec Equip Fund $8,031 $13,194 $194 $194 $194 $194 $194 $194
25-Fire Station Apparatus Bay Fund $5,027 $5,090 5,090$         5,090$         5,090$         5,090$         5,090$           5,090$              
26-Fire Equipment Fund $120,310 $59,593 $60,334 $74,509 $45,403 $73,186 ($12,507) $4,722
27-Sidewalk Fund $95,252 $106,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566
28-Long Term Facility Study $549 $2 2$                2$                2$                2$                2$                 2$                     
41-DPW-Bridge Fund $531,977 $568,723 ($30,667) ($48,598) ($217,771) $7,963 $34,440 ($16,640)
42-DPW-Paving Fund $160,762 $208,216 $75,000 $25,000 ($50,000) ($35,000) ($125,000) ($40,000)
43-Buildings & Grounds $33,857 $34,280 $34,280 $36,280 $38,280 $25,280 $27,280 $29,280
46-Generator Fund $35,940 $1,718 $16,718 $26,718 ($23,282) ($20,282) ($17,182) ($13,982)
47-Public Safety Facility $0 $0 $0 $14,403 $5,000 $10,000 $15,000 $20,000
TBD-Culvert Projects Fund $7,500 ($230,500) $8,285 $8,534 $8,790 $9,053
TBD-Roadway and Pedestrian Safety Fund $0 $0 $0 $2,500 $2,500 $2,750 $763 $1,551

$1,657,713 $1,633,519 $1,103,555 $734,583 $462,787 $456,695 $460,508 ($704,062)Total Capital Funds

29

30



11/2/2023

16

Summarizing the Allocations
Purchasing plan allocations requested are summarized by Fund and year. 

Fund # & Name 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

05-Recreation Facility & Impr-Voters 0 0 $0 $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 $15,000 $12,000
06-Fire Apparatus Fund $20,000 $65,018 $80,000 $120,000 $126,000 $132,300 $138,915 $145,861
07-Highway Equipment Fund 40,000$      40,000$      75,000$      250,000$     250,000$  250,000$  250,000$  250,000$  
08-Highway Garage Fund 25,000$      25,000$      27,000$      30,500$       32,000$    32,675$    33,800$    38,200$    
09-Solid Waste Equip Fund -$           -$           5,000$       2,000$        2,000$      2,000$      2,000$      2,000$     
10-Police Station Fund
11-Police Cruiser -$           35,000$      35,000$      40,000$       60,000$    60,000$    60,000$    60,000$    
13-Tracy Hall Fund -$           -$           -$           -$            -$         -$         -$         -$         
14-General Admin. Equipment Fund 50,878$      15,000$      15,000$      5,000$        5,000$      5,000$      5,000$      5,000$     
16-Recreation Fund-Dam
17-Recreation Fund-Tennis Co 10,200$      10,200$      10,000$      75,000$       10,000$    10,000$    10,000$    10,000$    
19-Town Clerk Equipment Fund -$           -$           -$           20,000$       8,650$      3,000$      3,000$      3,000$     
21-Police Spec Equip Fund -$           5,000$       5,000$       30,000$       5,000$      5,000$      5,000$      5,000$     
25-Fire Station Fund -$           -$           -$           -$            -$         -$         -$         -$         
26-Fire Equipment Fund 20,000$      10,000$      30,000$      31,500$       33,075$    34,729$    36,465$    38,288$    
27-Sidewalk Fund 14,000$      10,000$      10,000$      -$            -$         -$         -$         -$         
28-Long Term Facility Study -$           -$           -$           -$            -$         -$         -$         -$         
41-DPW-Bridge Fund 157,000$    100,000$    100,000$    150,000$     150,000$  150,000$  150,000$  100,000$  
42-DPW-Paving Fund 60,000$      45,000$      75,000$      75,000$       75,000$    75,000$    100,000$  100,000$  
43-Buildings & Grounds -$           -$           -$           2,000$        2,000$      2,000$      2,000$      2,000$     
46-Generator Fund 10,000$      15,000$      15,000$      10,000$       10,000$    3,000$      3,100$      3,200$     
47-Public Safety Facility -$           -$           -$           -$            5,000$      5,000$      5,000$      5,000$     
TBD-Culvert Projects Fund -$           -$           -$           150,000$     50,000$    51,500$    53,045$    54,636$    
TBD- Roadway & Pedestrian Safety 10,000$       5,000$      5,250$      5,513$      5,788$     
Grand Total 407,078$    375,218$    482,000$    1,016,000$  843,725$  841,454$  877,838$  839,973$  

Comparison Data- Fund Balance Projections
• Several Funds will not have balances sufficient to meet the Capital replacement needs beginning in FY25.
• All funds will be depleted by 2029 at current allocations and replacement needs.

Fund # & Name 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035

05-Recreation Facility & Impr-Voters $39,428 $8,826 $28,826 ($1,174) $10,826 $67,326 $58,883 $72,383 $86,383 $56,683 $21,683
06-Fire Apparatus Fund ($184,893) ($52,593) ($360,377) ($214,516) ($1,116,687) ($955,876) ($787,024) ($609,729) ($423,570) ($290,958) ($85,717)
07-Highway Equipment Fund $270,096 $340,096 $525,096 $635,096 $360,096 ($210,904) ($10,904) $79,096 $139,096 $339,096 $219,096
08-Highway Garage Fund $81,298 $13,298 ($154,027) ($235,227) ($297,027) ($300,827) ($263,327) ($275,826) ($238,324) ($200,821) ($163,317)
09-Solid Waste Equip Fund $36,614 $33,614 $25,614 $17,614 $9,614 $1,614 $3,614 ($34,386) ($72,386) ($110,386) ($108,386)
10-Police Station Fund ($14,403)
11-Police Cruiser $28,548 $28,548 $28,548 $28,548 $28,548 $26,048 $23,548 $21,048 $18,548 $16,048 $13,548
13-Tracy Hall Fund $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040 $32,040
14-General Admin. Equipment Fund $113,894 $108,894 $103,894 $98,894 $93,894 $88,894 $83,894 $78,894 $73,894 $68,894 $63,894
16-Recreation Fund-Dam
17-Recreation Fund-Tennis Co $309,799 $19,799 $29,799 $39,799 $49,799 $59,799 $69,799 $79,799 $89,799 $99,799 $109,799
19-Town Clerk Equipment Fund $0 $0 $3,000 $6,000 $9,000 $12,000 $15,000 $18,000 $1,000 $1,000 $1,000
21-Police Spec Equip Fund $194 $194 $194 $194 $194 $194 $194 $194 $194 $194 $194
25-Fire Station Apparatus Bay Fund 5,090$         5,090$         5,090$         5,090$           5,090$              5,090$        5,090$        5,090$        5,090$        5,090$        5,090$         
26-Fire Equipment Fund $74,509 $45,403 $73,186 ($12,507) $4,722 $22,814 $41,809 $77,269 $114,501 $153,594 $194,642
27-Sidewalk Fund $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566 $116,566
28-Long Term Facility Study 2$                2$                2$                2$                 2$                     2$               2$               2$               2$               2$               2$                
41-DPW-Bridge Fund ($48,598) ($217,771) $7,963 $34,440 ($16,640) ($107,091) ($305,272) $100,000 $100,000 $300,000 $100,000
42-DPW-Paving Fund $25,000 ($50,000) ($35,000) ($125,000) ($40,000) ($5,000) $85,000 ($5,000) ($10,000) $120,000 ($100,000)
43-Buildings & Grounds $36,280 $38,280 $25,280 $27,280 $29,280 $31,280 ($86,720) ($84,720) ($82,720) ($80,720) ($78,720)
46-Generator Fund $26,718 ($23,282) ($20,282) ($17,182) ($13,982) ($10,682) ($7,282) ($3,782) ($182) $3,518 $7,318
47-Public Safety Facility $14,403 $5,000 $10,000 $15,000 $20,000 $25,000 $30,000 $35,000 $40,000 $45,000 $50,000
TBD-Culvert Projects Fund ($230,500) $8,285 $8,534 $8,790 $9,053 $9,325 $9,605 $9,893 $10,190 $10,495 $10,810
TBD-Roadway and Pedestrian Safety Fund $2,500 $2,500 $2,750 $763 $1,551 $128 $1,510 $3,210 $2,746 $5,133 $5,389

$734,583 $462,787 $456,695 $460,508 ($704,062) ($1,092,261) ($883,977) ($284,960) $2,865 $690,267 $414,931Total Capital Funds

31

32



11/2/2023

17

Capital Planning

Next Steps

Where are 
we now? o Many Capital funds are severely behind in the accumulated savings 

needed to make capital purchases. 
o The inability to have money earmarked for capital purchases has 

created scenarios of failing vehicles and deferred maintenance on 
buildings and transportation infrastructure.

o Repair and maintenance budget lines have not kept pace with the 
needs to keep items in service without the regular replacements of 
capital assets and infrastructure.

o Capital equipment breakdowns are curtailing the work needs to be 
completed.

33

34



11/2/2023

18

Next Steps
Capital Fund 

Allocations 
for FY25 

Budget

o What level of funding is the SB looking to present to the Voters in 
the FY25 budget?

• Recommendation to allocate to the various funds in the FY25 Budget  
as noted in the Capital Purchase Plan presented in slide 31
($1,016,000).

o What level of Funding is the SB looking to present in future budget 
years, so we are not caught with a large shortfall again?

• Recommendation to allocate the FY25 total plus the annual COLA 
increase. Distribution to be determined according to the capital 
purchase plan under the direction of the town manager. 

o How would the SB like to address the 10-year shortfall in the 
budget allocations? Will some surplus money be requested?

• Recommendation to add $500,000 of the FY23 surplus to be divided 
among the Highway, Fire and Police funds (fund splits to be determined 
by the department heads. These were the departments that were hit 
hardest with the allocation decreases and nets a recoup of only a 
quarter of the total losses sustained over the past 10 years. ($474,000, 
$15,000 and $11,000 respectively. See chart to the left.

Dept Loss Sum % % of $500K Net Division
DPW 1,748,140  94.68% 473,397$       474,000       
FD 56,237      3.05% 15,229$        15,000        
PD 42,000      2.27% 11,374$        11,000        

TOTAL 1,846,377  100% 500,000        500,000       

Next Steps 
Presentation 

of Articles 
Related to 

the Capital 
Funds 

o Present an Article to move the remaining funds in the Police station 
Fund - #10 into the Public Safety Facility Fund #47, then 
inactivate/close Fund 10.

o Present an Article to rename the Fire Station fund #25 to “Fire 
Station Apparatus Bay.” Purpose to maintain the apparatus bay 
building and mechanical systems in order to maintain building safety.

o Present an Article to create a new fund for capital expenses for 
Culvert installations/replacement and repairs. Revenue streams for 
this funds will be grants and allocations.

o Present an Article to create a new capital fund for Roadway and 
Pedestrian Safety for capital expenses for items such as Guardrails, 
road signs, reflectors, etc..

o Present an Article to close fund 16- Recreation Fund Dam and 
transfer all remaining funds to fund 05- Recreation Facility & 
Improvement.

35

36



11/2/2023

19

Next Steps – Opportunity to Calendarize

Present Capital 
Plan in Public 
meeting

Nov 8, 2023

Incorporate SB 
directives 
received Nov 
8th into Budget 
Pass presented 
Nov 15th.

Nov 15, 2023 Nov 21, 2023 Nov 29, 2023

Final Budget 
Presentation
and adoption

Dec 13, 2023
Capital plan 
directive 
incorporated 
into TTL 
operating 
budget with 
Department 
head 
participation. 

Draft 
Budget 
Presentation 

TBD as 
needed

Dec 6, 2023

37



Town of Norwich 
P.O. Box 376 

Norwich VT 05055-0376 
(802) 649-1419 Ext. 101 or 102 

 
APPLICATION FOR BOARDS/COMMISSIONS 

(and for those reapplying for continuing appointments) 
 
 
Name: 
 
Address: 
 
Day phone:      Evening phone: 
 
E-mail: 
 
Position Applied For: 
 

1. If you are re-applying for the same board/commission, how many terms/years 
have you already served?  
Terms:          Years: 
 
 

2. Would you be available for evening and/or morning meetings?   
Evening:  (Yes    No)     Morning:  (Yes    No). 
Are there other restrictions on your availability?  If so, please describe: 
 
 
 

3. Please list any experiences, skills and/or qualifications which you feel would 
especially suit you for this appointment. 

 
 
 
 

 
4. Please include service on other municipal or school district Boards, 

Commissions, or Committees both in Norwich and elsewhere and indicate 
whether or not any of those appointments are current ones: 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please note that this application is considered a public document 
1 



Please note that this application is considered a public document 
2 

 
5. Education and Current Employment 

 
Name of Company:      Location: 
Title:  
Describe your work:  
 
 

 
6. Pertinent Education and/or Experience: 

 
 
 
 
 

7. Do you feel there could be any conflict of interest with your personal beliefs, 
occupation or employer in serving on this board, commission or committee? (Yes    
No).  If yes, please explain: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Comments: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signature       Date 



Date: 11/01/2023 

Request by: Lily Trajman, Town Clerk 

Town of Norwich 

Departmental Request 

Department: Town Clerk 

Town Manager Approval Date: ________ For Selectboard Meeting Date: 11/08/2023 

What is being requested: Expenditure of$ 1625.50 from designated fund 45 for two shelves to be used in the vault and 

three blank land records books. 

Has this request been budgeted by the Selectboard: Yes, FY24 

How much will the request cost, including any additional expenses such as set-up, decals, customization, etc., 

explain: $382.16 includes the cost for two shelves, brackets, and shipping to add to the existing shelving system in the 
vault. $1243.34 for three additional land records books and the paper we use in them. 

Which fund will be used to pay for this request: Fund 45 - Restoration 

How much is in the above-named fund on this date: about $40,748 after the previously authorized expenditure of 

$16,350. 

List other items/costs that are expected to be paid from the above-named fund: We will likely do one more round of 

book restoration for about $20,000 this fiscal year. 

Request for Quotes required: __ (Yes) _x_(No) To be sent out by Town Manager: _(Yes) _x_(No) 

Expected Date of purchase, if known: Already purchased and in the vault. 

Other information: 

32 VSA §1671 says: The legislative body shall create a Restoration and Preservation Reserve Fund of not less than $4.00 

per page from the per page recording fees established under this section. The Restoration and Preservation Reserve 

Fund shall be used solely for restoration, preservation, digitization, storage and conservation of municipal records. 

Date: U / 1 { z,QZ--3 
I 

Signature of Req uestor: ½ "J ti0 ir'Jd4l, ~ 
Signature of Town Manager: __________________ Date: _____ _ 

Action by Selectboard: ___ (Approved) ___ (Denied) ___ (Tabled) Date: ________ _ 

Concerns of Selectboard: ----------------------------

Quotes: Date sent out _____ Due date _____ Date selection made _______ _ 

Date quotes given to selectboard _______ _ 

Purchase: Date purchased _______ Date Received ___________ _ 



Dupont Storage Systems Inc

17 Canoe Birch Ct.
PO Box 7086
Berlin, CT 06037

lnvoice
Date lnvoice #

t0/24/2023 17280

BillTo Ship To

Norwich Town Hall
Llry rraJman
300 Main Street
Norwich, VT 05055

P.O. Number Terms Rep Ship Via F.O.B Project

Net 30 RRK t0/24/2023

Quantity Item Code Description Price Each Amount

I SHF Billing for Across Style Shelving 382.t6 382.16

Phone #
Total $382.16

203-250-2090



 

 

October 30, 2023 

To: Norwich Selectboard 
Cc: Brennan Duffy, Miranda Bergmeier 
From: Lily Trajman, Town Clerk 
Subject: Permission to apply for a grant 
 
Hello all, 
 
I am seeking your permission to apply for a Preservation Assistance Grant for Smaller 
Institutions (Funding Opportunity Number: 20240111-PG) from the National Endowment for 
the Humanities. 

• Application Deadline: January 11, 2024 
• Award Amounts: Up to $10,000 
• Type of award: Outright funds, not contingent on additional funding from other sources. 
• Cost sharing/match required: No. 
• Timeline: Projects must start between 9/1/24 and 12/1/24 and must be completed 

within 18 months of the start date. 
• From the grant program description: The Preservation Assistance Grants help small and 

mid-sized organizations preserve and manage humanities collections, ensuring their 
significance for a variety of users, including source communities, humanities 
researchers, students and the public, by building their capacity to identify and address 
physical and intellectual preservation risks.  The program focuses on foundational 
activities in preservation and management of collections.  Collections may include 
archives and manuscripts, prints and photographs, moving images, sound recordings, 
architectural and cartographic records, decorative and fine art objects, textiles, 
archaeological and ethnographic items, tribal collections, material culture, historical 
objects, special collections of books and journals, and digitized and born-digital 
materials.  Supported activities should fall into the following general categories: general 
preservation assessments, digital preservation assessments, conservation assessments, 
assessing environmental impacts of lighting systems or aging mechanical systems, 



assessing collection documentation needs to identify an appropriate collection 
management system, development and revision of written plans, policies and 
procedures such as emergency/disaster preparedness and response plants, digitization 
plans, storage plans, collection management plans, etc.  

 
With your permission, I will apply for this grant in order to pay for a professional survey of the 
contents of the Town of Norwich Vault, including recommendations for conservation and 
preservation priorities. I intend to contact two to three preservation and conservation firms to 
get estimates for the approximate cost of such a survey.  The last time this was brought up was 
11 years ago, and the estimated cost of such a survey at that time was $6,000. Any anticipated 
overages would be discussed with the selectboard before moving forward, and could be paid for 
from the Restoration Fund (45).    
 
 





















 
 

26 NEW BOSTON RD, NORWICH, VT 05055 І 802 649-2209 І ckaufman@norwich.vt.us 
 

 TOWN OF NORWICH 
Department of Public Works 

 
TO: Brennan Duffy, Town Manager 
FROM: Chris Kaufman 
RE: Hemlock Road Update 
DATE: November 2, 2023 

 
 
Based on the results of the initial geotechnical investigation, as documented in the attached 
memorandum from Stantec dated October 31, 2023, it has been determined that there is low potential 
for a sudden failure of the slope along Hemlock Road.  Therefore, the consultant has determined that a 
one-lane (10 ft wide) vehicular road access can be utilized to allow local traffic to access the properties 
along this roadway.  The geotechnical report is forthcoming and will discuss the final design slope 
stabilization options.   
 
The single lane limitation will restrict traffic adjacent to the top of the bank in the area of the previously 
observed tension cracks (see temporary channelizing road plan).  Roadway restriction would likely 
continue for at least 7 to 8 months until slope stabilization activities begin.  A closure for this area would 
require approximately 330 feet of channelizing devices.  Options for channelizing the roadway were 
discussed with Stantec and the following options were considered: 
 

1. Plastic Drums/Cones – Although the cheapest alternative, these devices would not be able to 
withstand snow plowing impacts.  Also, due to recent acts of vandalism, it is recommended 
these are not used. 

2. Concrete Jersey-Style Barriers – Durable and able to withstand plowing.  These barriers would 
be used with gaps in between to allow snow to be moved off the roadway.  Rental vs purchase 
costs have been received from two vendors (Weed Precast and SD Ireland).   Rental costs for 20 
jersey-style barriers over 8 months range from $12,000 to $21,000.  Purchase costs range from 
$9,000 to $12,000. 

3. Guardrail – This option is not recommended due to installation concerns on an unstable 
roadway. 

 
Based on a review of these options, it is recommended the SB approve the purchase of no more than 20 
jersey-style concrete barriers from Weed Precast.  The cost is estimated to be $9,040.00 (see attached 
Weed Precast estimate).  The monies used for purchase of these concrete barriers are proposed to be 
used from 01-5-703215.00 Other Projects of the current operation budget.  This has approximately 
$1,900 in the budget and therefore will be overspent 476%. 
 
As mentioned in prior memorandums, the ability to be reimbursed by FEMA for damages caused from 
the July 2023 storm event(s) is not guaranteed.  Based on discussions with our FEMA representative, it 
appears that the Town is meeting the requirements so far, but that there are many levels of approvals 
that need to be secured and that monies are never guaranteed until the project is finally completed and 
the final reimbursement is requested. 



Memo

mi https://stantec-my.sharepoint.com/personal/israel_maynard_stantec_com/documents/desktop/hemlock road one lane memo.docx 

To: Chris Kaufman From: Israel Maynard, PE 

Town of Norwich Department of Public 
Works 

193 Tilley Drive 
South Burlington, VT 05403 

File: 179450762 Date: October 31, 2023 

Reference:  Hemlock Road Limited Reopening 

On September 23, 2023 Stantec, Sanborn-Head and Town of Norwich met to discuss the progress of the 
Hemlock Road Project. As discussed, Sanborn-Head has initial results from the subsurface explorations. 
There have also been recent site visits that have not identified evidence of movement in the area of the 
previously observed tension cracks (identified in Stantec’s initial investigation on July 19th, and follow up site 
visit on July 24th). The originally observed tension cracks have been filled in making comparison to the initial 
observation difficult. Based on the initial results of the subsurface explorations and the recent observations of 
the site, it has been determined that there is low potential for sudden rapid failure of the slope along Hemlock 
Road and that it can be reopened with a restriction to one lane.  

Reopening Options: 

The single lane limitation should restrict traffic adjacent to the top of the bank in the area of the previously 
observed tension cracks (see attached plan). A closure for this area would require 330’ of channelizing device 
to restrict access. There are multiple options for channelizing devices to achieve the closure. Option 1 is to 
use traffic control drums. Drums spaced at 15’ intervals with a type III barricade on the approach would notify 
drivers of the area restricted to traffic. Drums are easily recognizable by drivers and have been shown to be 
reliable during winter use. The pro to using drums is that they will allow the most flexibility for plowing. The 
con to using drums is that they are easily relocated and this road has a history of having traffic control devices 
moved or vandalized. Option 2 is to use steel beam guardrail. Guardrail could be used as a positive 
immovable barrier to keep vehicles out of the restricted area. The cost would be significantly higher than 
drums with an anticipated cost of approximately $15,000. Option 3 is to use temporary concrete barriers. 
These barriers would have similar benefit to guardrail but would be more restrictive for plowing operations. 
The anticipated cost would also be higher at approximately $25,000. 

Signage will be necessary to notify drivers of the one lane road section. “One Lane Road Ahead” signs 
(MUTCD W20-4) should be placed in advance of the one lane area as shown on the attached plan. The east 
approach should also include “Yield” and “To Oncoming Traffic” signs (MUTCD R1- and R1-2a). This sign 
assembly will clarify that the westbound drivers need to yield to the eastbound drivers. Since this road is a 
dead-end residential road with very few residences there is low potential for conflict.  

Continued Observations: 

Although the slope does not have any visible movement since the tension cracks were filled in late July, there 
is still the possibility of continued movement. The Town should notify the residents that any movement or 
cracking should be reported immediately. The Town should inspect the slope immediately following rain 
events. If cracks develop full closure may need to be reinstated. 

Next Steps: 

Stantec and Sanborn-Head continue to work on finalizing the geotechnical report and developing plans for a 
permanent repair.  



October 31, 2023 

Chris Kaufman 

Page 2 of 2  

Reference:     Hemlock Road Limited Reopening 

mi https://stantec-my.sharepoint.com/personal/israel_maynard_stantec_com/documents/desktop/hemlock road one lane memo.docx 

 

 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc.  

Israel Maynard, PE   
Associate, Transportation 
 
Phone: 802 497 6415 
Fax: 802 864 0165 
Israel.Maynard@stantec.com 

Attachment: Plan and Typical Sections 

c.   



7+00

8+00

9+00 10+00

11+00

12+00

1
3
+
0
0

1
4

+
0
0

NORWICH

HEMLOCK ROAD

wrk_ism.dgn

------

------

------

------

YIELD

TRAFFIC

ONCOMING

TO

ONE  LANE

ROAD

ONE  LANE

ROAD

OR TEMPORARY CONCRTETE BARRIER)

(OPTIONAL: DRUMS, STEEL BEAM GUARDRAIL, 

CHANNELIZING DEVICE 

TEMPORARY REOPENING PLAN

R1-2

W20-4

R1-2a

W20-4

10'-0" MINIMUM LANE

10/31/2023

DESIGNED BY:

PROJECT LEADER: DRAWN BY:

PLOT DATE:

CHECKED BY:

PROJECT NAME:

PROJECT NUMBER:

FILE NAME:

SHEET         1       OF        2

N

V
T
 
S

T
A
T

E
 

P
L
A

N
E
 

G
R
ID

Fals
e No

rthin
g: 0.

000
0

Fals
e E

asti
ng: 1

640
416.6

667

Orig
in L

atitu
de: 4

2°30
'00.

000
0"N

Cent
ral M

erid
ian: 

72°3
0'00

.000
0"W

US 
Surv

ey F
oot

Tra
nsve

rse 
Mer

cato
r

NAD
83 

Verm
ont 

Stat
e Pl

anes

VT8
3 



Estimate
Date

11/1/2023

Estimate #

12909

Name / Address

TOWN OF NORWICH HIGHWAY
P.O. BOX 376
NORWICH, VT 05055

Ship To

Sales Person

JML

187 South Main St
Newport, NH 03773

(603) 863-1540

QUOTE VALID FOR 30 DAYS

For questions or clarifications please contact sales at colin@weedprecast.com

Item DescriptionQty Rate Total

DROPPED ON SITE

CURJB JERSEY BARRIER 2' W X 3' H X 10' L (5,000#) *1.2520 437.00 8,740.00T
PCZ1  DELIVERY ZONE 12 150.00 300.00

Subtotal 587.00 9,040.00

RENTALS

CURJB-NR MONTHLY RENTAL FOR 20 JERSEY BARRIERS1 16,000.00 16,000.00
PCZ1  DELIVERY ZONE 12 150.00 300.00

Subtotal 16,150.00 16,300.00

Total $25,340.00

Subtotal $25,340.00

Sales Tax  (0.0%) $0.00

Rental cost is $133/month per concrete barrier



V
A
R
I
E
S

C

SCALE …" =  1'-0"

10/31/2023

DESIGNED BY:

PROJECT LEADER: DRAWN BY:

PLOT DATE:

CHECKED BY:

PROJECT NAME:

PROJECT NUMBER:

FILE NAME:

SHEET       OF

typ.dgn

NORWICH

HEMLOCK ROAD

I. MAYNARD

 

P. ARMATA

I. MAYNARD

VARIES

REOPENING OPTIONS

L

C

SCALE …" =  1'-0"

VARIES

HEMLOCK ROAD TYPICAL SECTION - DRUMS

L

HEMLOCK ROAD TYPICAL SECTION - EXISTING

TRAVEL LANE (TYP.)

+/-7' 

TRAVEL LANE (TYP.)

+/-7' 

V
A
R
I
E
S

TRAVEL LANE (TYP.)

ALTERNATING

10'

C

SCALE …" =  1'-0"

VARIES

L

V
A
R
I
E
S

TRAVEL LANE (TYP.)

ALTERNATING

10'

C

SCALE …" =  1'-0"

VARIES

L

V
A
R
I
E
S

TRAVEL LANE (TYP.)

ALTERNATING

10'

CONCRETE BARRIER

HEMLOCK ROAD TYPICAL SECTION - 

STEEL BEAM GUARDRAIL

HEMLOCK ROAD TYPICAL SECTION -

FOOT POSTS

STEEL BEAM GUARDRAIL WITH 8 

2 2





DRAFT Minutes of the Selectboard Meeting of  

Wednesday, October 25, 2023, at 6:30 pm 

This hybrid meeting was held in the Multipurpose Room in Tracy Hall.  

Members present: Marcia Calloway, Chair; Mary Layton, Vice Chair; Roger Arnold; 

Pamela Smith; Priscilla Vincent  

Also participating: Brennan Duffy, Interim Town Manager; Stuart (Stu) Richards; Chris 

Kaufman, Director of Public Works; Wayne Kniffin; Lilly Trajman, Town Clerk; 

Alexander Northern, Fire Chief 

 

Note that sections are presented here in the order they were addressed at the 

meeting, which may occasionally differ from their sequential item numbering.  

 

Welcome. Meeting was called to order by Calloway at 6:33 PM. She reminded anyone 

wishing to join via Zoom® to present with both first and last names to help prevent 

unwelcome intrusions, commonly known as “Zoom-bombing.”  

1. Agenda. Layton moved, seconded by Vincent, to approve the Agenda. Passed 

Unanimously. 

2. Minutes. Layton moved, seconded by Vincent, to accept the minutes of October 11, 

2023, as amended with corrections as agreed at this meeting. Passed Unanimously. 

 

3. Correspondence. In relation to Cheryl Lindberg’s citizen’s letter provided in the 

packet, Calloway said it is not the role of the Selectboard to answer questions of law, 

but rather to refer such inquiries to Town Counsel.  

Layton moved, seconded by Vincent, to accept the correspondence as submitted. 

Calloway, Vincent, Layton, Arnold, Yes; Smith, No. Motion Passed. 

 

4. AP Warrants.  

Layton moved, seconded by Vincent, to approve the AP Warrant #1060 in the amount 

of $246,199.50. Passed Unanimously. 



Layton moved, seconded by Vincent, to approve the AP Warrant #1061 in the amount 

of $27,539.00 from Fund 53. Passed Unanimously. Smith said she had inquired about 

the balance remaining in that fund and when it was approved and that she received a 

satisfactory response. 

Layton moved, seconded by Vincent, to approve the AP Warrant #1062 in the amount 

of $4,550.00 from Fund 24. Passed Unanimously. 

Layton moved, seconded by Vincent, to approve the AP Warrant #1065 in the amount 

of $131,046.11. Passed Unanimously. 

 

 

Public Comments for Items not on the Agenda.  

Wayne Kniffin noted with interest that the ratings of priorities by Selectboard members 

given in the packet were not unanimous. 

 

Vincent commented that there remains uncertainty concerning the town line between 

Norwich and Sharon. Duffy responded that the issue has been off the radar for some 

months and he’s not certain what the concern even is. Calloway said it’s waiting for the 

affected property owners to raise the issue before the Board.  

 

Vincent asked about the current status of remaining issues in current collective 

bargaining negotiations. Arnold responded that as of September 9, they were waiting 

for a meeting to be set.  

 

Arnold stated his broad objection to issues being raised as public comments that ought 

rightly be treated as potential agenda items.  

 

Stu Richards, via Zoom, commented he has heard the Police Department might soon 

be back to just one officer because, in his words, starting pay in Norwich is $5 to $8 per 

hour less than in other municipalities. Calloway said the Board could not comment 

because of current collective bargaining negotiations.  

 

Town Manager’s Report.  

 

Duffy reported there is a new Federal requirement for a financial audit at the end of 

each calendar rather than fiscal year.  

He also said the budgeting process is underway and the Interim Finance Director, 

Joyce Hasbrouck, has developed a sophisticated spreadsheet she will present at the 

November 8 meeting. During budgeting, Hasbrouck will be compensated at time-and-a-

half for evening work.  



Duffy said he has been meeting with Miranda Bergmeier, Jaan Laaspere, and Jack 

Candon concerning the job description for the Planning Commission staff support role, 

hopefully to be filled before year end.  

Speaking for Chief Romei, Duffy said mandatory training is underway. 

Regarding DPW, Duffy reported that Sanborn Head has conducted borings on Hemlock 

Road and they are awaiting results.  

For the Fire Department, Duffy noted again the installation of a new dry hydrant on 

New Boston Rd.  

He said the Recreation Department wanted people to know the Norwitchy event would 

be held on October 29. 

Duffy said the compensation study of similar municipalities is now underway.  

Regarding Tracy Hall renovations, he said Studio Nexus architects were taking 

measurements earlier that day.  

Duffy drew attention to the financial reports in the packet that had been provided by 

Hasbrouck.  

 

5. Culvert Upgrade FEMA Opportunity.  

Chris Kaufman, DPW Director, appearing via Zoom, said the present culvert issues 

date back to the major storm event in July of this year. He said Stantec will provide a 

relevant report in the next weeks. Five culverts were overtopped or damaged. He 

outlined the costs for their replacement, most of which are estimated to run into the 

hundreds of thousands. Kaufman said, however, that if FEMA accepts these as 

qualifying for reimbursement, the Town’s outlay ultimately may be reduced to about 

$160,000.  

In response to Vincent, Kaufman said FEMA does now fund improvements, not simply 

replacements, having come since Irene to recognize the shortsightedness of doing 

otherwise.  

Kaufman said the Department is also reviewing the status of many smaller culverts 

around town for possible replacement with their own resources.  

 

6. Committee appointment for Recreation Council: youth member.  

Tabled. 

 

7 Request to expend Records Restoration Fund monies.  



Lilly Trajman joined through Zoom to explain the Town Clerk’s request for funding to 

offset the cost of services to digitally archive old marriage documents. Answering 

Calloway, she said while the State covers costs for births and deaths, they do not for 

marriage.  

Layton moved second by Smith, to authorize the expenditure of $16,365.50 from the 

Record Restoration Designated Fund # 45 for the restoration of eight marriage books. 

Passed Unanimously.  

 

8. Request to expend Fire Equipment Fund monies for Fire Equipment.  

Via Zoom, Chief Northern referenced his request for funds as outlined in the packet. 

Smith noted that as drafted in the motion to follow, the relevant fund had been 

misidentified.  

Layton moved, seconded by Smith, to authorize the expenditure of up to $31,100.00 

from the Norwich Fire Department Equipment Designated Fund #26 for items 

designated in the Fire Chief’s memorandum dated October 19, 2023, and included in 

the October 25, 2023 Selectboard packet. Passed Unanimously.  

 

9. Family Place Alcohol Waiver. This request was rescinded by the Family Place.  

 

10. Sullivan & Powers Amended Engagement Letter.  

Vincent moved, seconded by Layton, to authorize the Town Manager to execute the 

engagement letter with Sullivan, Powers & Company to perform a Single Audit as 

required by the Town’s expenditure of $750,000 or more in Federal funds in the fiscal 

year currently under audit. Passed Unanimously. 

 

General Discussion of Budgeting Process.  

Smith reiterated her request that departmental reports when submitted always specify 

the full name of the author(s) as well as the full date, including year.  

Layton asked to specify a start time for the meeting when Hasbrouck will present on the 

budget and the Board by consensus determined that will be 6:30 PM. At 8 they will turn 

to other business.  

There was discussion of whether to set a fixed target for departmental budget 

increases, such as 6%, the position taken by Arnold. Calloway suggested aiming in 

each case for under 10%. Layton and Vincent agreed. Smith said she did not wish to 

specify a particular number.  



At the conclusion of the meeting, Calloway mapped out future meetings, which she 

later formalized as follows:  

 

Date Day Meeting Type Time & Content Time & Content 

11/8/2023 Wednesday Regular 6:30-8:00 Budget 

presentation & discussion 

8:00-? Other 

business 

11/15/2023 Wednesday Special 6:30-8:00 Budget 

presentation & discussion 

No other business 

11/21/2023 Tuesday Special (not Weds 

because of T-

giving) & Regular 

(4th week of the 

month) 

6:30-8:00 Budget 

presentation & discussion 

8:00-? Other 

business 

11/29/2023 Wednesday Special 6:30-8:00 Budget only No other business 

12/6/2023 Wednesday Special 6:30-8:00 Budget only No other business 

12/13/2023 Wednesday Regular 6:30-8:00 Budget 

presentation & discussion 

8:00-? Other 

business 

 

 

Adjournment. Layton moved to adjourn, seconded by Arnold. Passed Unanimously. 

Meeting Adjourned: 8:58 PM.  

Respectfully submitted,  

Ralph C. Hybels  

Minutes Taker  

Approved by the Selectboard on  

_________________________  

Marcia Calloway, Selectboard Chair  

PLEASE NOTE: JUNCTION ARTS & MEDIA (formerly CATV) POSTS RECORDINGS OF 

ALL REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE NORWICH SELECTBOARD. 
 



1 

DRAFT Report  

Montpelier Net Zero Energy Action Plan 

 

Prepared for: 

City of Montpelier 

Draft Submitted: 

July 16th, 2021 

FINAL REPORT:  

City of Montpelier Net Zero Energy Action Plan 

Submitted: August 13th, 2021 

submitted to Selectboard correspondence by Doug Wilberding on 10-23-2023



2 

 

City of Montpelier 

Montpelier is the smallest state capital in the United States with a population of 

just under 8,000 people. The city provides municipal services for its residents and 

businesses. These services include local law enforcement, firefighting, street and 

road maintenance, and provision for potable drinking water and wastewater.  

The City of Montpelier is a national leader in the use of renewable energy and 

has already embarked on the road to meeting its goal of net zero energy by 

the year 2030. Major reductions in the use of fossil fuels have come from 

executed projects like the district heating system, solar PV installations, pellet 

heating of a senior center, installation of heat pumps, and the recent biogas project at 

the waste-water treatment facility.  For further information, visit the City’s website at –

https://www.montpelier-vt.org/  

Montpelier Energy Advisory Committee 

The Montpelier Energy Advisory Committee was founded in 2010 to act in an advisory capacity to the City 

Council on energy issues. MEAC identifies and nurtures energy saving projects and opportunities; informs 

and engages city residents on energy issues; and partners with other statewide groups to foster projects 

that reduce Montpelier’s energy use or help to meet its energy needs from renewables. Further information 

can be found at the MEAC website at - https://www.netzeromontpelier.org/  

VEIC  

As a non-profit sustainable energy organization, VEIC works with organizations across the energy landscape 

to create immediate and lasting change. Since 1986, we’ve served as an objective partner for our clients as 

they navigate complex energy challenges. With expertise in energy efficiency, building and transportation 

electrification, and new approaches for a clean and flexible grid, we bring solutions to the market that meet 

our clients’ goals. We have assisted municipalities, transit agencies, states, utilities, and businesses in 

designing and executing strategies to reduce energy use and greenhouse gas emissions through policy 

planning, analysis, and implementation support.  For further information on VEIC, please visit our website – 

www.veic.org  

 

  

DISCLAIMER 

The information, analysis, and recommendations made in this report are those of the authors, consistent with the commissioning 

of this work as an independent study. The analysis is intended to provide a level of detail necessary to develop high-level 

strategies and take action over time toward achieving the City of Montpelier’s energy related goals. This study and its findings 

are not based on detailed design engineering. 

 

Defining “Net Zero”Disclaimer 

The information, analysis, and recommendations made in this report are those of the authors, consistent with the 

commissioning of this work as an independent study. The analysis is intended to provide a level of detail necessary to develop 

high-level strategies and take action over time toward achieving the City of Montpelier’s energy related goals. This study and 

its findings are not based on detailed design engineering. 

https://www.montpelier-vt.org/
https://www.netzeromontpelier.org/
http://www.veic.org/


3 

 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................................................ 4 

1.0 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................... 7 

1.1 Background............................................................................................................................................................ 7 

1.2 Methods .................................................................................................................................................................. 8 

2.0 Results ........................................................................................................................................................................ 12 

2.1 Baseline Energy Use: 2020 ............................................................................................................................ 12 

2.2 Business as Usual (BAU) Scenario: 2030 .................................................................................................. 18 

2.2.1 Combined Energy ......................................................................................................................................... 18 

2.3 Net Zero Scenario: 2030 ................................................................................................................................ 21 

2.3.1 Economic Analysis ........................................................................................................................................ 23 

3.0 Action Plan ............................................................................................................................................................... 32 

3.1 Electric Energy ................................................................................................................................................... 32 

3.2 Thermal Energy for Buildings ....................................................................................................................... 33 

3.3 Transportation and Heavy Equipment ..................................................................................................... 35 

Appendices ...................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

Appendix A – Inventory of City Buildings....................................................................................................... 38 

Appendix B – List of Vehicles by Department .............................................................................................. 39 

Appendix C – List of Measures Assessed ........................................................................................................ 41 

Appendix D – Discussion of Carbon Offsets ................................................................................................. 43 

Appendix E – Action Plan Summary Table ..................................................................................................... 45 

Appendix F – Discussion of Incentives ............................................................................................................ 47 

 

  



4 

 

Executive Summary  

The City of Montpelier has set an ambitious goal to eliminate fossil fuels from City owned 

buildings, operations, and vehicle/transportation fleet by the year 2030. This action plan 

examines the current energy uses and energy sources, forecasts a business-as-usual scenario, 

and explores the optimal pathway to reach the goal, by using efficiency, renewable energy, 

and electrification solutions.   

This action plan was developed for the City of Montpelier in close collaboration with several 

City departments, the School District, and the Montpelier Energy Advisory Committee (MEAC). 

The purpose of the action plan is to lay out a realistic pathway to achieving the goal of net 

zero energy by the year 2030 without being overly prescriptive. This action plan provides 

helpful information that can be used to develop the necessary strategies to dramatically 

reduce and eventually eliminate fossil fuel use.  

Baseline or historic energy consumption in Fiscal Year 2020 totaled 37,801 GJ, of which 36% is 

renewable. This includes energy from electricity use and fuel use of City-owned and managed 

buildings, as well as fleet vehicles, including school buses. Overall, 43% of the energy currently 

used in buildings is renewable, and only 3% of vehicle fuel is considered renewable (based on the 

ethanol mixed into gasoline).  

Baseline data indicate the largest category of continued fossil fuel use is for thermal energy in 

buildings. Fossil fuel use is highest at the High School, the Water Resource Recovery Facility, the 

Middle School, and Public Works Buildings. However, with the recent completion of Phase 1 

Biogas project, the fossil heating fuels previously used at the Water Resource Recovery Facility 

have already been eliminated. 

If the City of Montpelier does not take any further action, it can expect that 55% of its energy use 

in 2030 will be from renewables. This scenario is driven largely by the recent completion of its 

Waste Resource Recovery Facility project and discontinued burning oil for summer domestic hot 

water to feed the district heat system. Lastly, this scenario assumes that electricity will be 100% 

renewable if Green Mountain Power reaches its goal. 

Based on the analysis, the City of Montpelier can cost-effectively reach 88% renewable energy by 

2030 by taking actions outlined in the Action Plan. Vehicles and some building energy will still 

likely use some fossil fuels.  

 

 

 



5 

 

Table 1 - Projected Energy Consumption 2030 with Net Zero Action Plan 

Energy Sector Annual Energy Use (GJ) Percent Renewable Metric Tons CO2e 

Buildings  30,875  95%  110  

Vehicles  4,305  28%  271  

Total   35,181  88% 382 

The ability to meet 100% fossil fuel-free energy usage in City operations is limited largely by 

vehicle replacement costs and availability and small amounts of remaining usage for space 

heating, domestic hot water, and cooking in select buildings. High annual mileage light-duty 

vehicles are currently the best use-case for cost-effective electrification. Vehicles with a medium 

range, and medium- and heavy-duty vehicles have been shown to be less cost effective in this 

analysis within the 2030 timeframe or lack EV replacement options currently. 

 

Figure 1- Graph depicting the percentages of renewable energy broken out between buildings and vehicles for 

Baseline, 2030 Business-as-Usual, and 2030 Net Zero.  

The Net Zero Action plan identifies actions that the City can take to viably transition its energy 

away from fossil fuels by 2030. These actions were reviewed to meet a simple payback requirement 

and prioritized based on timeframe for implementation.  

The City has three options to address the remaining 12% fossil energy: 

1. Purchase carbon credits to offset emissions from continued fossil fuel usage,  

2. Aggressively pursue supplemental grant funding to effectively lower capital costs and 

improve cost-effectiveness.  

3. Change the cost-effectiveness requirements to allow investments with longer or no 

paybacks, or 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

 Historic  BAU  NZE

Renewable Share by Scenario and Sector

Buildings Vehicles



6 

 

If supplemental grants cannot be secured and the cost-effectiveness criteria cannot be altered, 

purchasing offsets to make up the remaining 12% will be the bridge to full realization of the 

100% goal.  

  



7 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Background 

In 2014, the City of Montpelier adopted the goal of achieving Net Zero by the year 2030. In 2018, 

this goal was further defined in a City Council Resolution:  

Montpelier is committed to becoming the first capital city to eliminate fossil fuel use by 

converting to 100% renewable energy. By 2030, 100% of the energy used for municipal 

government operations (thermal, electrical, and transportation) will be renewable or offset. 

By 2050, fossil fuel use will be eliminated entirely and 100% of energy needs (municipal, 

residential, and commercial) will be met renewably.  

One of the specific actions called for in this resolution was to:  

“RECOMMEND THAT CITY STAFF DEVELOP A 10-YEAR PLAN TO ACHIEVE THE CITY’S NET 

ZERO GOAL. This will include identification of specific actions to reduce municipal energy 

use and emissions, metrics for cost effective decisions, a public communications plan, and 

efforts to ensure that targets are achieved in a socially equitable manner.” 

In 2021, the City of Montpelier engaged VEIC to support the development of an Action Plan to 

support the City’s net-zero fossil fuels goal by 2030. The process and methodology for the 

development of the Action Plan are below.  

 

DEFINING “NET ZERO” ENERGY 

The term “net zero” energy can mean different things to different people. The “net zero” goal set by the City of 

Montpelier is to eliminate the use of fossil fuels. Therefore, the goal is not necessarily to achieve 100% local 

generation of the City’s needed energy nor to achieve neutral (or net zero) carbon emissions. Within this plan 

and the associated analysis, fossil fuels include propane, heating oil, gasoline, and diesel. To achieve “net zero” 

in this context, the City will aim to reduce as much use of fossil fuels as possible and find ways to offset any 

negative environmental impacts of continued fossil fuel use. 

This action plan identifies measures and methods to reduce and eventually eliminate the use of fossil fuels in 

the City buildings and operations by the year 2030. This action plan does not factor or address the fossil energy 

use of the private residents, organizations, agencies, or businesses located in the City of Montpelier. While the 

School District is a separate entity from the City, school buildings and operations were included in the scope. 

To achieve this goal, the Action Plan considers measures focused on energy efficiency (e.g., weatherization, or 

equipment upgrades), renewable energy generation, efficient vehicles, fuel switching, and the purchase of 

carbon offsets, as necessary.  



8 

 

The Action Plan provides the City of Montpelier with potential pathways and a list of 

recommended actions to achieve its net zero fossil fuel goal by 2030.  This document assesses 

different measures to support municipal electricity, thermal, and transportation use, with the main 

focus being on the latter two sectors. The Action Plan provides an assessment of greenhouse gas 

impacts, and economic viability (in the form of simple payback).  

 

1.2 Methods  

The following section outlines the key methods and steps used to evaluate and identify potential 

actions the City of Montpelier could take to achieve its ambitious goal. 

1.2.1 Energy Use Data 

For the analysis underlying this plan, VEIC leaned heavily on MEAC’s data of existing energy 

consumption in municipal operations. This includes energy consumption by building or 

department, by fiscal year, and by fuel for electricity, fuel oil, propane, pellets, biogas, district heat, 

diesel, and gasoline. VEIC requested and received additional details on fuel use by vehicle, and on 

energy used in the leased school bus fleet. 

1.2.2 Baseline Energy Use 

VEIC used the data obtained in the previous step and used a 3-year average as baseline where 

available. Where fewer years of data were available, or significant changes happened in a building 

or vehicles energy in the past 3 years, a shorter period was used as the baseline. VEIC also included 

fuel use data for the leased school buses in the baseline. This detailed baseline was used to inform 

the actions and measures needed to eliminate fossil fuel use.  

 

 

UNITS OF ENERGY USED WITHIN THE ANALYSIS 

Energy is measured in different ways and with different units of measure. For example, electricity is commonly 

measured in kilowatt-hours (kWh). In the United State, thermal energy is sometimes measured in British thermal 

units (Btu), and the amount of energy used in vehicles is frequently reported in gallons of the fuel used.   

In order to report total energy use across electric, thermal, and transportation, we needed as single common 

framework. While all energy can be reported in millions of Btu or kilowatt-hours, we chose to report energy 

values in Gigajoules (GJ) because of it ease for reporting large values and its common use nationally and 

internationally for energy action plans and GHG reporting.   

1 GJ = 278 kWh   or   0.95 million Btu   or   7.6 gallons of gasoline 

 



9 

 

1.2.3 Business-as-Usual (BAU) Energy Use Projection 

The Business-as-Usual (BAU) scenario is the basis of comparison for the Action Plan. It identifies 

expected energy use by sector and fuel should the City not take further steps to reduce or 

eliminate fossil fuels. This projection assumes the following: 

• The existing project at the WWRF is completed and all thermal energy needs are met 

with biogas and the annual amount of energy used remains the same as the baseline (i.e. 

increased demand from a biosolids drier are not factored); 

• The district heat utility no longer burns fuel oil in the City hall basement (as it had 

previously to provide domestic hot water in summer to customers when the State’s 

steam plant was not running);  

• Green Mountain Power achieves its 100% renewable energy by 2030 goal; 1 

• This analysis uses a straight-line interpolation between the 2020 renewable energy share 

(64%) and 2030 goal. 2 GMP does not include nuclear in their renewable percentage; but 

it does include it in its carbon free number, which stood at 95% in 2020; 

• This increasingly renewable utility electricity was used for the roughly 40% of electricity 

the City does not get from its own solar arrays. There is no difference in electricity supply 

between the Business as Usual and Net Zero scenarios; 

• No further efficiency or renewables efforts are made (besides those recently completed 

or those already underway);  

• There will be no additional City-owned buildings connected to the district heat system;  

• There are no changes to the number and types of vehicles in the City’s fleet; 

• Vehicles are assumed to be replaced at end-of-life with equivalent vehicles of the same 

fuel type (gasoline or diesel) and similar fuel economy; 

• Industry-standard maintenance and operating costs by vehicle type; and 

• Future energy costs are based on the Energy Information Administration’s (EIA’s) Annual 

Energy Outlook 2021.3 

1.2.4 Analyzing Actions to Reduce Fossil Fuel Use 

VEIC identified and assessed a wide range of efficiency and fuel-switching actions or measures 

that Montpelier could take to replace as much of the current fossil fuel consumption as possible. 

 
1 https://greenmountainpower.com/gmp-launches-vision-to-have-100-renewable-energy-by-2030/  
2 With an Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) forthcoming, but modeling and forecasting not yet available, GMP’s Director 

of Power Supply, Doug Smith, suggested a straight-line forecast is appropriate. Personal communications, email to 

Damon Lane, VEIC, May 5, 2021. 
3 EIA, AEO2021 National Energy Modeling System, Reference case: ref2021.d113020a 

https://greenmountainpower.com/gmp-launches-vision-to-have-100-renewable-energy-by-2030/


10 

 

VEIC reviewed energy audit reports, interviewed City and School District staff on their buildings, 

vehicle fleets, and operations, and developed and reviewed draft measure lists with MEAC and 

Department Heads to seek further feedback. At this stage, applicability and functionality were the 

primary considerations. 

1.2.5 Simple Payback Analysis 

To assess the financial viability of the various investments identified, VEIC used simple payback 

analysis. Simple payback evaluates how long it will take for the annual financial savings from the 

measures to exceed the initial capital invested. Measures that generate enough savings to exceed 

the investment cost within the measure’s expected lifetime were deemed viable options – others 

were excluded.  

VEIC developed and applied capital cost estimates and operating costs for each technology 

specific to the given size and load of each building or use of vehicles. Industry averages for heating 

system sizing were used as precursor to developing capital cost estimates.  Capital costs estimates 

were derived from reported actual costs for comparable projects across the region for facility 

improvements. It is important to note that capital cost estimates and analysis for this action plan 

were not based on detailed engineering-grade assessments. For vehicles, estimated pricing for 

gasoline or diesel-fueled models and equivalent electric vehicle models by vehicle type were taken 

from the Alternative Fuel Life-Cycle Environmental and Economic Transportation (AFLEET) Tool4, 

focusing on the difference between them (incremental cost) to determine EV capital costs for each 

category of vehicle with a known or expected EV equivalent by 2030. Industry standard defaults 

for charging station purchase and installation costs were included in capital cost calculations 

(though note installations costs are highly variable based on existing infrastructure at each facility, 

which were not examined as part of this study). 

Operating costs were derived from the Vermont Department of Public Service’s Fuel Price Reports5 

for current energy costs to use in the simple payback analysis. This covered traditional fossil fuels, 

but for dry wood chips and wood pellets regional suppliers were surveyed. For biodiesel blends 

and renewable diesel national price data 6  was compared to reported prices from regional 

suppliers.  

1.2.6 Developing Recommended Actions 

For each building and vehicle, VEIC reviewed the payback analysis and operational considerations 

and identified the most promising action to reduce fossil fuel use. It is important to note that the 

recommended actions were not based on design engineering level assessment – rather portfolio 

level analysis using averaged input values. For some, like heavy duty vehicles, there is not currently 

 
4 https://greet.es.anl.gov/afleet_tool  
5 https://publicservice.vermont.gov/content/retail-prices-heating-fuels  
6 DOE AFDC data (https://afdc.energy.gov/fuels/prices.html)   

https://greet.es.anl.gov/afleet_tool
https://publicservice.vermont.gov/content/retail-prices-heating-fuels
https://afdc.energy.gov/fuels/prices.html


11 

 

a viable path to go further than B20 biodiesel. When economics limit further action, VEIC included 

a calculation of the additional funding necessary. For example, in vehicle replacement, if an electric 

version is available, but would not pay back within the vehicle’s lifetime, VEIC would provide a 

calculation of the upfront incentive needed to reduce the payback to the vehicle’s lifetime.  



12 

 

2.0 Results 

2.1 Baseline Energy Use: 2020 

2.1.1 Electricity  

MEAC provided electricity data for 66 consumption meters and eight generation meters from 

2011 to 2020, grouped by building or department. Based on the most recent year’s data, the 

waste-water plant consumed 36% of total electricity, and the water plant used 16%. The schools 

used about 1/3 as much electricity as the City. The High School uses about as much electricity as 

the Middle School and Elementary School combined. The last 3 years of electricity use was 14% 

lower than the first 3 years, though the change over time varies by account. 

 

 

Figure 2 - Share of total electricity by Building/Department in Fiscal Year 2020. 

The electric account data indicate that 62.4 kW of solar PV have been installed and operating at 

the waste-water plant since 2011. An additional small solar PV array was installed in 2013 at the 

Department of Public Works garage. In 2017, the City and the school district entered into a power-

purchase agreement for the energy generated from two additional privately-owned PV arrays 

located in Montpelier and Sharon. Today, electric generation from solar PV accounts for nearly 

60% of the electricity used by the City. The School district has separate solar systems that provide 

60% of their electricity on an annual basis. 

Today, electric generation from solar PV accounts for nearly 60% of the electricity used by 

the City. 



13 

 

Over the same time-period, between 2011 and 2020, Green Mountain Power’s (GMP’s) share of 

renewable energy supply grew from 5% to 64%, 7  cleaning the electricity Montpelier buys 

dramatically. Green Mountain Power sources nuclear power for most of the rest of their supply, 

and they count that as carbon free, but do not include it in their renewable percentage.  

In 2020, the on-site solar and GMP’s supply combine to provide Montpelier with electricity that is 

about 88% renewable. 

Besides the electricity generated by the City owned PV arrays and what is purchased from the 

electrical grid, there is a small amount of diesel fuel burned in emergency power gensets at the 

police station and at the water treatment plant. While these units are not needed for typical day-

to-day operations, they provide critical back-up and need to be run periodically for testing and 

maintenance.  

2.1.2 Thermal  

Across the various departments including the school district, the City of Montpelier has 24 heated 

buildings totaling approximately 350,000 square feet. Buildings range from 15 to over 100 years 

in age – with sizes from 1,300 square feet to 90,000 square feet. These buildings also range widely 

in use and condition. A majority of the City’s buildings provide heat using boilers and modern hot 

water (hydronic) heat distribution systems, while a handful of buildings use furnaces feeding warm 

air ducted systems or direct-fired units. The recreation center has a steam heat system that should 

be replaced with hydronics as soon as possible. VEIC worked with the City of Montpelier staff and 

MEAC members to review heating fuel use data8 to examine thermal energy uses: 

• Space heating loads 

• DHW loads 

• Cooking fuel use 

In 2014, the City completed the district heating project that provides hot water to a total of 22 

buildings in downtown Montpelier including four City owned buildings (City hall, the fire station, 

police station, and Union Elementary School). Steam from the State of Vermont’s woodchip 

heating system is converted to hot water and the City operates the district heating system as a 

hot water supply utility9.  At the time, these four buildings were the priority for connection to the 

district heating loop and the remaining City owned buildings were not connected due to the 

distance and cost to connect them. These buildings, not connected to the district heating system, 

 
7 Based on the 2019 and 2020 renewable electricity percentage shown on 

https://greenmountainpower.com/energy-mix/ during May 2021 and historic emissions by year provided via 

personal communications by Graham Turk, Innovation Strategist at GMP to Damon Lane on May 5, 2021. 
8 Data were examined to assess energy use intensity (Btu per square foot per year) in each building, but the 

usefulness of the EUI was skewed by high EUI values – especially a few buildings that have diesel generators tied to 

heating oil tanks and no fuel use metering. 
9 https://www.montpelier-vt.org/375/District-Heat-Montpelier  

https://greenmountainpower.com/energy-mix/
https://www.montpelier-vt.org/375/District-Heat-Montpelier


14 

 

mostly produce their own space heating and hot water using oil and propane boilers and heaters. 

There is one exception; the Senior Center on Barre Street uses a pellet boiler and a solar hot water 

system. Over the past several years, cold-climate heat pumps that provide supplemental heating 

and cooling have been installed in several buildings. Additionally, heat pump hot water heaters 

have been installed in select City buildings to provide summer-time domestic hot water when the 

district heating plant is off-line.  

For a more detailed list of City owned buildings, please see Appendix A – Inventory of 

Buildings. 

2.1.3 Transportation  

The City has 76 vehicles operated by five City departments: Fire & Ambulance, Police, Public 

Works, Cemeteries, Community Services. Forty-one of these vehicles are in the Department of 

Public Works (DPW). Across Departments, there are a range of vehicle models ranging from light-

duty sedans, SUVs, pick-up trucks and vans to medium- and heavy-duty fire engines, dump trucks, 

and specialized municipal equipment such as plows and streetsweepers. The City’s vehicle fleet 

also includes off-road heavy construction and excavation equipment: wheel loaders, road grader, 

pavers and asphalt recyclers, backhoes/excavators, sidewalk plows, rollers and a lawn tractor. The 

majority of the City’s on-road vehicles operate on diesel with unleaded gasoline being the other 

primary source of fuel.  

School buses are included in this report for energy use tracking but are owned and operated by 

a third-party school transportation contractor. In addition, tools such as fuel-burning landscaping 

equipment, mobile fuel tanks, mobile generators, and vehicle accessories were not included in the 

transportation analysis, though their fuel use is captured by the City’s overall fossil fuel tracking 

system.    

Only three percent of the fuel used by the City’s fleet is renewable, which is from to the ethanol 

content in gasoline. In 2020 the Police Department deployed a hybrid electric police interceptor 

SUV, and the schools deployed a battery electric Chevrolet Bolt for driver’s education classes, and 

hybrid-electric minivan for school activities, all with good success. There are currently no modern 

city-owned EV charging stations to support the fleet other than the charging station associated 

with the Bolt EV at the high school. 

In 2019 MEAC and the Department of Public Works investigated the viability of biodiesel and 

renewable diesel as alternative fuels, particularly for heavy-duty equipment and vehicles that are 

unlikely candidates for electrification in the near to mid-term. There is interest in a pilot project to 

test these fuels in smaller dump trucks and there is also interest in electric work trucks and vans 

that are beginning to emerge on the market. However, the City has identified challenges with the 

supply of biodiesel blends and renewable diesel as well as vehicle makes and models that can 

serve DPW’s operational needs.  



15 

 

2.1.4 Combined Energy  

In total, the City of Montpelier uses 37,801 GJ of energy annually, with roughly 82% from building 

energy use (electric and thermal) and the remaining 18% from vehicles.  

Table 3 below provides a comprehensive overview of the current energy use by department from 

both fossil and renewable energy based on a three-year average. The “buildings” row represents 

both the electrical and thermal energy consumption.  

  



16 

 

Table 2- Baseline Annual Energy Consumption Table 

Building/Department Use  Energy (GJ)  Renewable Share (%) Metric tons of CO2 

City Hall 

  

  

Total       2,370  95%                 4  

Buildings       2,370  95%                 4  

Vehicles            -               -                -    

Fire Station 

  

  

Total          739  25%                41  

Buildings          200  88%                 0  

Vehicles          539  1%                41  

Green Mount Cemetery 

  

  

Total          212  13%                12  

Buildings          135  21%                 6  

Vehicles            77  0%                 6  

Parks Dept 

  

  

Total          108  11%                  7  

Buildings            23  17%                  1  

Vehicles            85  9%                 6  

Police Station 

  

  

Total        2,127  59%               62  

Buildings        1,264  93%                 4  

Vehicles          862  10%               58  

Public Works 

  

  

Total        6,919  12%              441  

Buildings        3,161  24%              156  

Vehicles       3,757  1%             285  

Rec Center 

  

  

Total          977  7%               63  

Buildings          863  7%               55  

Vehicles           113  7%                 8  

Rec Fields 

  

  

Total          395  47%                13  

Buildings          339  53%                10  

Vehicles            56  10%                 4  

Senior Center 

  

  

Total          369  71%                 5  

Buildings          350  74%                 4  

Vehicles            19  10%                  1  

Water Plant 

  

  

Total       2,973  52%                77  

Buildings       2,879  53%                70  

Vehicles            95  10%                 6  

Water Resource  

Recovery Facility (WRRF) 

  

Total        8,177  42%              301  

Buildings        8,147  42%             299  

Vehicles            30  9%                 2  

Elementary School (UES) 

  

  

Total       2,478  75%               38  

Buildings       2,478  75%               38  

Vehicles            -    0%                -    

Middle School (MSMS) 

  

  

Total       2,990  19%              164  

Buildings       2,990  19%              164  

Vehicles            -               -                -    

High School (MHS) 

  

  

Total        6,041  19%             328  

Buildings        5,761  20%              310  

Vehicles          280  10%                19  

School Bus Contractor 

  

  

Total          927  0%                72  

Buildings            -                  -                   -    

Vehicles          927  0%                72  

Total 

  

  

Total      37,801  36%           1,628  

Buildings     30,960  43%            1,120  

Vehicles        6,841  3%             508  

 

The baseline data reported in this document was not taken from a single year – especially because 

2020 was such an outlier due to the pandemic. Two to three years of data were used depending 

on when efficiency projects were done or operational changes that affect the baseline were made. 



17 

 

It is important to note that in 2019 there was considerably more fossil fuel use in vehicles and 

equipment than in 2020, so the two-year average used for vehicles may prove low if use returns 

to previous levels. In Fiscal Year 2019 the City’s fleet used 35,324 gallons of diesel and 19,403 

gallons of gasoline and was responsible for 57% of the City’s GHG emissions. In Fiscal Year 2020, 

reported diesel use dropped 31% and gasoline dropped 12%. 

 

  

 

Figure 3. FY2020 historic energy use (baseline) by department by fossil fuel vs renewable (GJ) 

While the baseline fossil energy used for the Water Resource Recovery Facility looks high in the 

graph above, it is important to note that the Phase 1 Biogas project, completed in 2021, nearly 

eliminates all the thermal energy sources from fossil fuels. This change is reflected in the business-

as-usual section below. Similarly, a large portion of the fossil energy attributed to Public Works is 

due to heating oil burned in the City Hall boilers to provide thermal energy for the district heat 

utility. This boiler has provided summer-time domestic hot water and shoulder-season heating to 

district heat utility customers. This practice was recently discontinued in 2020. 

The City of Montpelier baseline energy use is 37,801 GJ per year, with slightly over 24,000 

GJ from fossil energy sources. 



18 

 

2.2 Business as Usual (BAU) Scenario: 2030 

The City already gets 60% of its electricity from its own solar PV arrays and the remaining 40% is 

sourced from the electric utility that is continually increasing its percentage of energy sourced 

from renewables and is expected to reach 100% renewable by 2030. Therefore, there is no 

difference in electricity supply between the Business as Usual and Net Zero scenarios. 

2.2.1 Combined Energy  

Due to the minimal change between 2021 and 2030 (besides the first-year changes to account for 

the completion of phase 1 biogas project and the elimination of oil fueled district heat for 

summer-time domestic hot water), Figure 4 below shows the energy consumption across 

departments in the end year of 2030. 

 

Figure 4. BAU energy in 2030 by fossil vs renewable (GJ) 

Without additional action, the City would reach only 55% renewables and fall far short of its fossil 

fuel reduction goal. The fossil fuel usage by 2030 would be approximately 45% of total energy. To 

meet its goal under the Business-as-Usual scenario, the City could purchase carbon credits to 



19 

 

offset the emissions generated from its continued fossil fuel usage. The Business-as-Usual 

scenario is projected to have 1,209 metric tons of CO2e that would need to be offset 

annually at a cost estimated to be between $4,000 and $18,000 each year. For more 

information on carbon offsets, see Appendix D – Discussion of Carbon Offsets. 

Table 3- Business-as-Usual Projected Annual Energy Consumption Table 

Building/Department Use  Energy (GJ)  Renewable Share (%) Metric tons of CO2 

City Hall 

  

  

Total  2,825  98%  3  

Buildings  2,825  98%  3  

Vehicles  -    0%  -    

Fire Station 

  

  

Total  731  27%  41  

Buildings  192  100%  -    

Vehicles  539  1%  41  

Green Mount Cemetery 

  

  

Total  221  16%  12  

Buildings  144  24%  7  

Vehicles  77  0%  6  

Parks Dept 

  

  

Total  99  13%  6  

Buildings  15  34%  1  

Vehicles  85  9%  6  

Police Station 

  

  

Total  2,229  65%  59  

Buildings  1,367  99%  1  

Vehicles  862  10%  58  

Public Works 

  

  

Total  5,315  18%  328  

Buildings  1,558  57%  43  

Vehicles  3,757  1%  285  

Rec Center 

  

  

Total  1,066  8%  69  

Buildings  953  8%  61  

Vehicles  113  7%  8  

Rec Fields 

  

  

Total  420  57%  13  

Buildings  364  64%  9  

Vehicles  56  10%  4  

Senior Center 

  

  

Total  572  85%  5  

Buildings  553  88%  4  

Vehicles  19  10%  1  

Water Plant 

  

  

Total  3,319  55%  90  

Buildings  3,224  57%  84  

Vehicles  95  10%  6  

Water Resource  

Recovery Facility (WRRF) 

  

Total  8,611  100%  3  

Buildings  8,581  100%  1  

Vehicles  30  9%  2  

Elementary School (UES) 

  

  

Total  3,276  71%  66  

Buildings  3,276  71%  66  

Vehicles  -    0%  -    

Middle School (MSMS) 

  

  

Total  3,174  24%  167  

Buildings  3,174  24%  167  

Vehicles  -    0%  -    

High School (MHS) 

  

  

Total  5,358  27%  273  

Buildings  5,078  28%  255  

Vehicles  280  10%  19  

School Bus Contractor 

  

  

Total  927  0%  72  

Buildings  -     -     -    

Vehicles  927  0%  72  

Total 

  

  

Total  38,144  55%  1,209  

Buildings  31,304  67%  700  

Vehicles  6,841  3%  508  



20 

 

 

Figure 5 – Illustrative pathway for getting from 2020 to 2030 under the BAU scenario 

Figure 5 depicts the relative straight line over the next nine years for the business-as-usual 

projection that illustrates how much fossil fuel will still be used if no action is taken.    

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

 40,000

 45,000

2020

Baseline

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

BAU

G
ig

a
jo

u
le

s 
o

f 
T
o

ta
l 
E
n

e
rg

y
Baseline 2020 to BAU 2030 Pathway

Renewable Portion Fossil Fuel Portion



21 

 

2.3 Net Zero Scenario: 2030 

The following possible actions have been identified to support eliminating fossil fuel usage by the 

City of Montpelier. Fuel-switching and electrification are essential for reducing fossil fuel usage 

by the City in the long-term. Each action includes a description, anticipated financial cost, fossil 

fuel reduction to be achieved, emissions reduction to be achieved, and which City Department is 

responsible for implementing the project. Table 2 below provides a short summary of the 

categories of measures broken out between primary strategies and secondary strategies. 

Renewable fuels like B100 and the use of purchased offsets were deemed secondary strategies 

because they do not necessarily provide durable infrastructure that ensures long-term fossil fuel 

replacement.  

 
Table 4 – Summary List of Building and Vehicle Measures Assessed 

Category of Measure  Measure Assessed 

Primary Building Measures Weatherization and efficiency 

Ground-source heat pumps 

Cold-climate air-source heat pumps 

Dry wood chip boiler systems10 

Wood pellet boiler systems 

Secondary Building Measures B100 heating oil 

Carbon offsets 

Primary Vehicle Measures (includes charging 

stations) 

Plug-in electric vehicles (all-electric & plug-in 

hybrid)  

Medium and heavy-duty electric vehicles 

Electric heavy equipment as possible 

Secondary Vehicle Measures Biodiesel blends 

Renewable diesel 

Carbon offsets 

 

For a more detailed list of measures considered, please refer to Appendix C.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
10 Dry woodchip fuel and boiler systems differ from traditional woodchip fuel and systems. Dry woodchips contain 

nearly half the amount of moisture than traditional woodchips and therefore have greater energy density and fuel can 

be stored in an outdoor metal silo like wood pellets. Dry woodchip boiler systems are typically smaller and can be 

fitted into tighter boiler rooms than traditional woodchip systems – thereby lowering the overall project capital costs. 

For further information - http://biomassmagazine.com/articles/15964/critical-mass  

http://biomassmagazine.com/articles/15964/critical-mass


22 

 

Table 5- 2030 Net Zero Energy Annual Energy Consumption Table 

Building/Department Use  Energy (GJ)  Renewable Share (%) Metric tons of CO2 

City Hall 

  

  

Total      2,825  98%                3  

Buildings      2,825  98%                3  

Vehicles           -    0%              -    

Fire Station 

  

  

Total         678  44%              42  

Buildings         192  100%              -    

Vehicles        485  2%              42  

Green Mount Cemetery 

  

  

Total         261  21%              16  

Buildings         144  24%                7  

Vehicles          117  3%              10  

Parks Dept 

  

  

Total          141  72%                3  

Buildings          93  88%                1  

Vehicles          48  43%                2  

Police Station 

  

  

Total       1,707  97%                4  

Buildings       1,367  99%                1  

Vehicles        340  89%                3  

Public Works 

  

  

Total      4,757  58%            214  

Buildings      2,025  96%                5  

Vehicles      2,733  13%            209  

Rec Center 

  

  

Total         821  100%              -    

Buildings         821  100%              -    

Vehicles           -    0%              -    

Rec Fields 

  

  

Total        364  64%                9  

Buildings        364  64%                9  

Vehicles           -    0%              -    

Senior Center 

  

  

Total          411  99%                0  

Buildings          411  99%                0  

Vehicles           -    0%              -    

Water Plant 

  

  

Total      3,016  100%              -    

Buildings      2,983  100%              -    

Vehicles          33  100%              -    

Water Resource  

Recovery Facility (WRRF) 

  

Total      8,591  100%                1  

Buildings      8,581  100%                1  

Vehicles           10  100%              -    

Elementary School (UES) 

  

  

Total      3,314  70%              68  

Buildings      3,276  71%              66  

Vehicles          38  10%                3  

Middle School (MSMS) 

  

  

Total      3,126  96%                9  

Buildings       3,110  96%                8  

Vehicles           15  10%                1  

High School (MHS) 

  

  

Total      4,833  97%               11  

Buildings      4,683  97%               11  

Vehicles         150  100%              -    

School Bus Contractor 

  

  

Total        336  95%                1  

Buildings           -                   -                 -    

Vehicles        336  95%                1  

Total 

  

  

Total     35,181  88%            382  

Buildings    30,875  95%             110  

Vehicles      4,305  28%             271  

 

 



23 

 

 

Figure 6 - Illustrative pathway of getting from baseline 2020 to Net Zero by 2030 

2.3.1 Economic Analysis  

2.3.1.1 Capital Costs  

Electric  

Due to the current amount of electricity that comes from renewable energy and the projections 

supporting 100% renewables by 2030, no capital investments were deemed necessary for the City.  

Thermal  

Using the baseline energy use data and integrating anecdotal information gathered with city staff, 

system capacity ratings were estimated for each building to serve both the space heating and 

domestic hot water loads. Recent installed system cost data were used to develop average capital 

costs per unit of system capacity. The system output capacities and the averaged system costs 

were used to develop capital cost estimates specific to each building for each technology option 

considered. For the 24 buildings this included the following measures: 

• Ground-source Heat Pumps (GSHP) have relatively high-capital costs per unit of system 

output capacity ($700-800k per million Btu of hourly output capacity). 

• Cold-climate Air-source heat pumps (ccASHP) have moderate capital costs per unit of 

system output capacity ($400-450k per million Btu of hourly output capacity). 

• Dry woodchip boilers have moderate capital costs per unit of system output capacity 

($250-275k per million Btu of hourly output capacity). 

 -

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

 40,000

 45,000

2020

Baseline

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Net Zero

G
ig

a
jo

u
le

s 
o

f 
T
o

ta
l 
E
n

e
rg

y
Baseline 2020 to Net Zero 2030 Pathway

Renewable Portion Fossil Fuel Portion

Purchase offsets 



24 

 

• Bulk wood pellet boilers have low to moderate capital costs per unit of system output 

capacity ($200-225k per million Btu of hourly output capacity). 

Fleet Vehicles  

Using the City’s vehicle inventory, estimated pricing for gasoline or diesel fueled models and 

equivalent EV models by vehicle type were taken from the AFLEET tool, focusing on the difference 

between them (incremental cost) to determine capital costs for each category of vehicle with a 

known or expected EV equivalent by 2030. Batteries are the most expensive component of EVs. 

Medium- and heavy-duty EVs require larger batteries to produce sufficient power and range to 

meet operational demands, which is why they are considerably more expensive to purchase than 

gas or diesel vehicles.   

1. Light-duty EVs, including All-Electric Vehicles (AEVs) and Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles 

(PHEVs), currently cost more than their fossil fuel counterparts, with a typical price 

premium of around $7,000 for an AEV or PHEV sedan and $10,000 for an AEV or PHEV 

SUV, before any available incentives. Mid-sized electric trucks have a higher premium of 

approximately $16,000 to $23,000 more depending on the size of the truck. 

2. Medium and heavy-duty EVs such as school buses, trucks, dump trucks, and bucket 

trucks have more significant price premiums and can be as much as 2-4 times the cost of 

a diesel equivalent. 

Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment (Charging Stations) 

Our analysis identified recommendations for EV charging station types (Level 1, Level 2 standard 

or high powered, DC fast charging) by vehicle-type. Industry standard costs for charging station 

purchase and installation were included in capital cost calculations. Costs for purchase and 

installation of Level 2 chargers range from $2,300 for non-networked chargers to $5,700 for high-

end networked chargers. Higher powered Level 2 chargers (19 kW) are likely to cost around 

$15,500. High powered DC fast chargers (50 kW) are the most expensive at approximately 

$45,000-50,000. It is important to note that installation costs are highly variable based on available 

electrical infrastructure at each facility, which was not examined as part of this study. 

Biofuels 

Biofuels are recommended as an alternative for vehicles that are not expected to have viable EV 

equivalents by 2030.  

1. B20 blends can serve as a drop-in replacement for conventional diesel with a revised fuel 

management protocol, including potentially dropping down to a lower blend level (B10) 

in the winter months to avoid gelling in fuel lines. Switching the entire fleet to B20 is 

feasible with adequate planning and preparation and would utilize either the City’s 



25 

 

existing diesel underground tank or an updated version if/when that tank is replaced. 

Thus, no capital costs are required for use of B20 fleetwide. 

2. B100 requires vehicle fuel tank and engine control module aftermarket modification to 

run year-round without gelling. Modifications from the leading 3rd-party upfitter 

(Optimus Technologies) cost approximately $15,000 per vehicle. Additionally, we 

assumed that not all vehicles and equipment would be converted to B100, and so 

Montpelier would need to maintain fueling capacity for both diesel and B100. The most 

cost-effective way to do this would be to replace the existing underground diesel tank at 

end of life with a segmented tank capable of storing 2 fuel types, and then add a second 

pump to dispense the B100. Estimated capital costs for this additional pump were 

included in B100 capital cost estimates.     

3. Renewable Diesel is a drop-in replacement for conventional diesel and would not require 

any new fuel management protocols or capital equipment upgrades. Therefore, we 

assumed Montpelier would switch to 100% Renewable Diesel for their entire fleet when a 

cost-effective source is available, rather than incrementally, and would utilize either their 

existing diesel underground tank or an updated version if/when that tank is replaced. 

Thus, no capital costs are required for use of renewable diesel fleetwide.  

2.3.1.2 Incentives to lower Capital Costs 

In many cases, energy efficiency and renewable energy projects can secure supplemental funding 

to lower the upfront project cost. While some incentives are available through sources like 

Efficiency Vermont, and Tier 3 programs run by the regulated electric distribution utilities, for large 

municipal-scale projects these are usually offered as “custom” incentives and the actual amount 

of funds available are not easily predicted. Other incentive sources, like federal income tax credits 

or investment tax rebates for ground-source heat pumps, wood heating equipment and electric 

vehicles, are challenging for municipalities to access. Rather than make speculative estimates on 

incentive availability, analysis was performed using the full capital costs without incentives. For 

further information on discussion of potential incentives please see Appendix F.  

2.3.1.3 Operating Costs  

Capital costs are important but understanding the annual costs of fueling and operating various 

technologies is critical to assessing the overall cost-effectiveness and whether lower annual 

operating costs can be achieved to drive a return on the investment. 

https://www.optimustec.com/vector-system


26 

 

Thermal Energy  

Figure 7 – Illustrative graph depicting the cost of heating fuels used in this analysis 

 

The bar graph above illustrates the comparative fuel costs of delivered heat for ccASP, GSHP, Bulk 

wood pellets, and dry woodchips against oil and propane. While both GSHP and ccASHP use 

electricity, GSHP consistently operate at higher efficiency whereas ccASHP efficiency fluctuates 

widely depending on outdoor air temperatures. Despite the greater energy density of pellets, 

woodchips are a lower cost boiler fuel. All four options offer energy savings when compared 

against current market prices for heating oil and propane. Note that oil and propane prices can 

swing widely and the prices depicted in the graph above are based on the prices detailed in the 

table below.  

Figure 8 – Chart detailing the input assumptions that yield a cost per mmBtu for each technology/fuel type. 

ccASHP kWh $0.18  0.003 2.5 $21.98  

GSHP kWh $0.18  0.003 3.6 $16.49  

Heating Oil Gallon $2.65  0.138 89% $25.60  

Propane Gallon $2.20  0.092 91% $28.13  

Bulk Pellets Ton $250  15.510 85% $20.15  

Dry Woodchips Ton $130  12.375 83% $13.13  

 

$0.00

$5.00

$10.00

$15.00

$20.00

$25.00

$30.00

ccASHP GSHP Heating Oil Propane Bulk Pellets Dry Woodchips

C
o

st
 p

e
r 

M
il
li
o

n
 B

tu

Heating Fuel Costs 



27 

 

In addition to the fuel costs presented above, operating and maintenance cost were also factored 

in the economic analysis performed.  

Vehicles 

Electrification 

All classes of EVs will generate operational savings from lower maintenance and fuel costs. 

Electricity is roughly twice as expensive per unit of energy than gasoline or diesel, but EVs are 

roughly 3-4 times more efficient so their net energy costs are lower. In Vermont, costs to charge 

an EV are estimated to be the equivalent of $1.50 per gallon of gas, and costs can be lower if users 

are able to access off-peak rates for EV charging provided by Green Mountain Power and other 

electric utilities. 

EVs have significantly lower maintenance needs and costs relative to conventional gasoline 

vehicles. This results in an estimated $0.09/mile cost for maintenance of light duty EVs compared 

to $0.15-$0.23/mile for gasoline or diesel vehicles. On average Consumer Reports has found light-

duty electric vehicles can save $4,600 in maintenance costs over the life of the vehicle11. For 

medium to heavy duty EVs maintenance savings are estimated at $0.07-$0.08 per miles with some 

models netting higher benefits.  

PHEVs achieve slightly smaller fuel cost savings than AEVs and lower maintenance savings, as they 

contain both electric and conventional powertrains which require maintenance.   

Operating costs for charging stations vary on service packages and whether the chargers are 

networked. Basic, non-networked charging stations require minimal maintenance and no annual 

fees, whereas networked charging stations typically require significant annual fees to operate.  

Biofuels 

Biodiesel: In Vermont, B20 and B100 prices are generally equal to or lower than diesel – anywhere 

from $0.00 to $0.49 lower per gallon, according to the most recent AFDC alternative fuels price 

report.12 

Renewable diesel: Renewable diesel is not currently available in Vermont. Availability is limited to 

California, where it is lower cost than diesel fuel due to the state’s low-carbon fuel standard. For 

the purposes of this study, it is assumed renewable diesel will be available in Vermont by 2025, at 

a price premium of $0.50 over conventional diesel. This is based on high-level market research 

 
11 https://www.consumerreports.org/hybrids-evs/evs-offer-big-savings-over-traditional-gas-powered-cars/  
12 https://afdc.energy.gov/files/u/publication/alternative_fuel_price_report_january_2021.pdf  

https://www.consumerreports.org/hybrids-evs/evs-offer-big-savings-over-traditional-gas-powered-cars/
https://afdc.energy.gov/files/u/publication/alternative_fuel_price_report_january_2021.pdf


28 

 

and predicted outcomes of the Transportation Climate Initiative (TCI) for Northeast and Mid-

Atlantic States.13  

 

 

Figure 9 - Comparison of the cost of operating a gasoline car and an EV from Drive Electric Vermont. 

 

Table 6 - Chart detailing the input assumptions that yield a cost per mmBtu for each technology/fuel type. 

Electricity kWh  $0.18  0.003 

Gasoline Gallon  $2.16  0.115 

Diesel Gallon  $2.36  0.128 

B20 Gallon  $2.01  0.127 

B100 Gallon  $2.21  0.119 

Renewable Diesel Gallon  $2.86  0.121 

 

 
13 https://www.transportationandclimate.org/TCIP-FAQ   

 



29 

 

2.3.1.4 Results for Thermal Energy  

For each building and possible measure, simple payback analysis was performed for GSHP, 

ccASHP, chip and pellet fueled boilers.  

Table 7 below presents the results of best matched technology with the shortest payback period. 

Table 7 does not include buildings that do not require further measures to eliminate fossil fuel 

use (i.e., the buildings that are already connected to the biogas fueled boiler system at the WRRF 

or the district heating system).  

Table 7 – Economic analysis results for Building thermal energy 

Department  Building name  Viable 

Measure 

Estimated 

CapEx14  

Annual 

Savings 

Simple 

Payback 

(years) 

Breakeven 

Subsidy 

Needed 

Recreation Recreation Center Pellet Boiler $45k $2,900 15 None 

Senior 

Center 

Senior Activity Center Pellet Boiler $31k $345 90 $25k 

DPW 

 

DPW Garage and Office Pellet Boiler $85k $2,000 41 $22k 

DPW R/M Shop ccASHP $165k $300 555 $160k 

DPW R/M Shop #2 ccASHP $85k $300 285 $80k 

School 

District 

Montpelier High School Dry chip 

boiler 

$585k $32,000 18 None 

Main Street Middle School Dry chip 

boiler 

$370k $23,000 16 None 

Parks 

 

Hubbard Park Caretaker's 

House 

ccASHP $15k $240 None $12k 

Hubbard Park office ccASHP $16k $14 None $16k 

Water Water Treatment Plant Pellet Boiler $72k $4,500 16 None 

 

Some heating systems have high capital costs and lower operating costs while other measures 

have lower capital costs and higher operating costs.  For an economic perspective (not factoring 

site-logistics), the best option depends on the size of the energy load. Big buildings with more 

energy demand (and realized savings) can often carry the extra capital costs, whereas smaller 

buildings often cannot generate enough annual savings to justify the higher capital cost options.  

While ground-source heat pumps were assessed for each building in the payback analysis, the 

annual savings generated were insufficient to yield a simple payback on any of the City buildings. 

Given the size and nature of City-owned buildings, ccASHP, pellet boilers, or wood chip boilers 

are the optimal options for dramatically reducing the amount of oil and propane currently used 

for space heating. 

 

 
14 Capital cost estimates are based on averaged installed costs per unit of system heat output capacity and may not 

reflect the full capital costs of associated site, building and mechanical system upgrade costs. 



30 

 

2.3.1.5 Results for Transportation Energy 

VEIC calculated the simple payback for each vehicle/piece of equipment and potential measure 

combination. We evaluated gasoline-powered vehicles and equipment for replacement with 

equivalent electric vehicles and associated charging stations. Additionally, for diesel-powered 

vehicles/equipment, simple payback analysis was performed for 20% (B20) and 100% (B100) 

biodiesel blends and renewable diesel. 

Vehicles that log the most miles per year typically consume the most fuel, and therefore have the 

greatest opportunity for energy and maintenance costs savings through replacement with an 

electric vehicle. Electric vehicles have higher capital costs due to the cost of batteries, which are 

their most expensive components. Because medium and heavy-duty EVs require larger batteries 

to produce sufficient power and range to meet operational demands, they are considerably more 

expensive to purchase than gas or diesel counterparts. Medium and heavy-duty vehicles also 

typically require larger, more expensive charging stations which may have considerably higher 

installation costs.  

As a result, high annual mileage light-duty vehicles are currently the best use-case for cost-

effective electrification. There are 10 high-mileage sedans, SUVs or pickups that meet these 

criteria, show a positive lifetime payback, and are recommended for electrification when the next 

replacement vehicle is procured. An additional 24 vehicles with mid-range annual mileage are not 

currently cost-effective to replace with EVs, but with expected reductions in battery prices and 

additional incentive programs, these vehicles are expected to show a positive payback if they are 

replaced by 2030. 

Medium and heavy-duty electric vehicles which require higher powered chargers are not likely to 

provide a payback by 2030 unless the City’s utilization of these vehicles increases dramatically or 

if incentives become available to reduce capital costs. Therefore, all remaining diesel-powered 

trucks and buses that won’t likely have cost effective (or any) EV options by 2030 are 

recommended to switch to B20 now and transition to renewable diesel as supply becomes 

available in Vermont and costs come down.  

B100 per-vehicle capital costs and logistical challenges (requiring new segmented underground 

fueling and new fuel pump) are greater than either B20 or renewable diesel options. They are also 

expected to remain a relatively niche product, whereas EV options are likely to become more 

mainstream and cost effective (though they are currently more expensive than B100 retrofit 

options for medium and heavy-duty vehicles in most cases).   

Offsets are recommended for a handful of very low mileage vehicles. Depending on operational 

needs the City could also consider eliminating very low mileage vehicles that are not performing 

a specialized service. 



31 

 

With the number of mid- to low-mileage vehicles in the City’s fleet it is important to note that 

aside from fuel switching, reducing fleet size (and increasing the mileage of remaining vehicles to 

make them better candidates for electrification) and/or using vehicles less fleetwide to reduce 

fossil fuel use are two other strategies to reduce vehicle-related fossil fuel consumption.  

  



32 

 

3.0 Action Plan 

How to Use this Action Plan 

The actions outlined within this analysis represent the best options for meeting the City of 

Montpelier’s fossil fuel reduction goals based on current technologies, stakeholder feedback, 

and current economic and energy analyses as outlined above. This is not meant to serve as a 

prescriptive action plan, but rather a tool to support the City’s decision-making and strategy.  

The following section presents more details on the possible actions that could be taken by the 

City of Montpelier to achieve 88% renewable energy use by 2030 as outlined in the Net Zero 

scenario above. While the goal is 100% fossil fuel displacement, given the difficulties of cost-

effectively eliminating fossil fuel use in vehicles and heavy equipment, some of which don’t have 

non-fossil options yet, aiming for 88% may be a more realistic target. MEAC and the City should 

monitor the sustainable options for equipment like dump trucks, street sweepers, which are 

evolving quickly.15 Purchasing offsets to make up the remaining 12% and/or waiving the “cost-

effective” requirement will be the bridge to full realization of the 100% goal.  

Table 8 – Comparison of the energy used and emissions in 2030 between the BAU and Net Zero Energy Scenarios 

Energy Sector Annual Energy Use (GJ) Percent Renewable Metric Tons CO2e 

 BAU Net Zero BAU Net Zero BAU Net Zero 

Buildings  31,304   30,875  67% 95%  700   110  

Vehicles  6,841   4,305  3% 28%  508   271  

Total   38,144   35,181  55% 88%  1,209   382  

 

Table 8 above illustrates the gap that needs to be bridged via these actions items to meet the 

goal.  

3.1 Electric Energy  

Although this action plan does not focus on electricity, as vehicles and buildings electrify, 

Montpelier should consider control strategies that avoid increased demand charges. This is 

particularly important for vehicle chargers which often draw much more than buildings. 

 
15 The Mayors of Copenhagen, Oslo, and Stockholm announced a focus on zero carbon construction equipment at 

C40 in 2019. E,g,: “In Oslo, all city-owned machinery and municipally or owned construction sites will operate with 

zero emissions by 2025.” https://www.c40.org/press_releases/mayors-of-copenhagen-oslo-and-stockholm-

commit-to-clean-construction 

Oslo has demonstrated an all-electric construction site. https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20210622-the-

scandinavian-way-to-zero-carbon-construction 

 

https://www.c40.org/press_releases/mayors-of-copenhagen-oslo-and-stockholm-commit-to-clean-construction
https://www.c40.org/press_releases/mayors-of-copenhagen-oslo-and-stockholm-commit-to-clean-construction
https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20210622-the-scandinavian-way-to-zero-carbon-construction
https://www.bbc.com/future/article/20210622-the-scandinavian-way-to-zero-carbon-construction


33 

 

With the increased electricity consumption, additional solar may be a good investment that 

provides savings that can be utilized to fund other strategies to reduce fossil fuel. At the time of 

writing, the GMP Solar Map16 shows in Montpelier a mix of circuits with plenty of solar capacity 

and ones that may be difficult to site more solar. 

Consider replacing the backup generators with battery systems. Prior to pandemic supply chain 

interruptions, the price of battery storage had become very competitive and the Statehouse 

installed a large backup system that may provide an example.17  

Additional efficiency actions like LED lighting should happen at time of replacement. 

3.2 Thermal Energy for Buildings  

The following section breaks down the list of possible measures into prioritized categories based 

on the size of the fossil fuel displacement opportunity and the more favorable simple payback 

periods.  

3.2.1 Priority one action items (recommended action for 2021 -2024) 

1. Montpelier High School. Pursue installation of a dry wood chip boiler at High School. 

MHS consumes over 30,000 gallons of oil annually and is the single largest use of fossil 

fuels. A recommended next step is to commission a detailed engineering study for 

Montpelier High School to assess the design considerations for installing a dry woodchip 

boiler given the tight space restrictions they have. This assessment should also consider 

the alternative option of a vertical loop GSHP system if capital costs can be effectively 

lowered to a reasonable level.18 

 
16 Green Mountain Power, “GMP Solar Mao 2.0,” accessed July 13, 2021. 

https://www.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=4eaec2b58c4c4820b24c408a95ee8956 

 
17 Vermont Digger, “Vermont Statehouse is first in nation to install batteries for backup power,” January 8, 2021. 

https://vtdigger.org/2021/01/08/vermont-statehouse-is-first-in-nation-to-install-batteries-for-backup-

power/ 

 
18 Note: both Montpelier High School and Middle School are part of the School District that is a separate entity from 

the City and decision making and budgeting will follow a separate path than other measures enacted by the City. 

General note for thermal investments: 

• Pursue heating loads as first priority. For either dry chip or pellet boiler systems connect 

boilers to also cover domestic hot water loads.  

• Install slightly under-sized systems with a little back up fossil fuel needed. Use savings to 

help fund further air-sealing and insulation work to eliminate the back-up fossil fuel use.  

 

https://www.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=4eaec2b58c4c4820b24c408a95ee8956
https://vtdigger.org/2021/01/08/vermont-statehouse-is-first-in-nation-to-install-batteries-for-backup-power/
https://vtdigger.org/2021/01/08/vermont-statehouse-is-first-in-nation-to-install-batteries-for-backup-power/


34 

 

2. Montpelier Middle School. Pursue installing a dry chip boiler at the Middle school. The 

middle school consumes over 20,000 gallons of oil annually and is the second largest 

single use of fossil fuel in the City.  A recommended next step is to commission detailed 

engineering study for Montpelier Middle School to assess the design considerations for 

installing a dry woodchip boiler given the extremely tight space restrictions they have. 

This assessment should also consider the alternative option of a vertical loop GSHP 

system if capital costs can be effectively lowered to a reasonable level. 

3. Montpelier Water Plant. Pursue installing a pellet boiler at the Water Plant. The water 

plant consumes over 12,000 gallons of propane annually and is the third greatest single 

use of fossil fuel. 

3.2.2 Priority two action items (recommended actions for 2025 – 

2027) 

1. Montpelier Recreation Center. The recreation center uses over 5,000 gallons of heating 

oil annually and has the highest energy use per square foot of any City building. 

Significant weatherization improvements should be made. The existing steam heating 

system will need to be removed and a hydronic system paired to a pellet boiler should 

be installed.  

2. DPW Garage. Install a pellet boiler to provide 100% of space heating and domestic hot 

water needs. Fan-coil units can be used to transfer hydronic heat to overhead blowers in 

the garage space.  

3. DPW Maintenance Shops. Install ccASHPs at both shops to displace the oil and propane 

consumed by the existing wall units.   

3.2.3 Priority three action items (recommended action for 2028 – 

2030)  

1. Pursue heating system replacements using heat pumps at the other small buildings with 

lower thermal loads. 

2. Go back through the inventory of larger buildings to address any remaining fossil fuel 

use for peaking/back-up or domestic hot water loads.  Install Heat Pump water heaters 

to cover domestic hot water demands. 

3. Buy carbon offsets to make up the difference of any remaining fossil fuel use. For further 

discussion of carbon offsets see Appendix D. 

 



35 

 

3.3 Transportation and Heavy Equipment 

The following section breaks down the list of possible measures into prioritized categories based 

on the size of the fossil fuel displacement opportunity and the more favorable simple payback 

periods.  Due to the relatively short life of vehicles and the existing capital replacement plans and 

schedules in place, we recommend sequencing of transportation fleet and equipment at regular 

end-life replacement schedule.  

3.3.1 Priority one action items (recommended action for 2021-2027*) 

1. Electrify 10 relatively high annual mileage gasoline-powered vehicles at their next vehicle 

replacement. These vehicles show a positive payback over their lifetime. Some of the 

best candidates for replacement include Police Department SUVs and some DPW pickup 

trucks. 

a. Police SUVs could be replaced with Tesla Model 3 or Model Y sedans. Many 

police departments across the country have made this switch and reported 

positive experiences with performance and cost savings. Ford’s Police Interceptor 

SUV Hybrid (non-plug in) is an option for replacement until all-electric police 

SUVs are available on the market.  

b. DPW’s half-ton pickups can be replaced with Ford electric F-150s starting as soon 

as 2022.  

c. DPW should also consider whether the Ford electric F-150 will also be capable of 

meeting DPW’s needs for their higher annual mileage (10,000 miles/year) ¾ ton 

pickups, as replacing them with electric F-150s will generate lifetime savings due 

to the lower capital cost of an electric F-150 ($42,000) compared to estimated 

costs for forthcoming ¾ and 1-ton electric pickups ($60,000).  

2. Install 10 standard-power networked Level 2 charging stations to support these vehicles. 

Networked chargers are recommended to implement managed charging plans to charge 

when electricity demand is lowest, and stagger charging so that no more than one 

vehicle is charging at the same time. 

3. When facilities that host fleet vehicles are being renovated or constructed, prepare the 

site to support easy installation of future EV chargers. 

4. Initiate a relationship with Green Mountain Power to support plans to electrify fleet 

vehicles. Seek their support to analyze the City’s current rate structure, to determine 

current and future electricity demand and costs at individual facilities where EVs are 

being considered, identify off-peak charging strategies, and coordinate installation of EV 

chargers.  



36 

 

a. Consider prioritizing EV deployment and overnight vehicle charging at facilities 

that have: off-peak overnight hours; and/or higher electricity demand during the 

day. 

5. DPW staff connect to peer fleet managers who have switched to B20 for their operations 

to discuss best practices and recommendations and develop a plan for deployment. 

3.3.2 Priority two action items (recommended action by 2025-2028) 

1. Monitor EV market and incentives for all vehicle classes and accelerate EV procurements 

as battery prices continue to drop and model availability and sales volume increase. 

Light-duty vehicles are likely to be the most cost effective in the near future as they are 

closer to price parity with existing internal combustion engine counterparts. 

a. Based on peer learnings and deployment best practices, switch to B20 for all 

diesel operations, and buy carbon offsets for the diesel portion of the fuel 

starting in 2030. 

b. Monitor the renewable diesel market and begin to make the switch when it 

makes economic and operational sense. It is anticipated to happen before 2030.  

2. Consider a pilot to test deployment of lightly used all-electric vehicles. Used vehicles 

offer the opportunity to expand the number of light duty vehicles in Montpelier’s fleet 

that are cost-effective replacements. For example, due to advances in AEV range over the 

last few years, earlier AEV models with shorter standard ranges (80-110 miles, such as the 

Nissan Leaf, Volkswagen e-Golf or Kia Soul) can be found on the used market at prices 

50% or lower than original MSRP. These vehicles are commonly 3-5 years old (often just 

off lease) with low odometer miles (<20,000mi or less) and transferrable powertrain 

warranties. Because their standard range is lower than current vehicles on the market, 

they may be less desirable to consumers, but can be an excellent fit for fleet applications 

where daily maximum range needs are low and predictable. Local inventory of these 

vehicles may be limited, but auto dealers are often able to search national inventories 

and have vehicles brought in for purchase.   

3.3.3 Priority Three Recommendations (2028 – 2030 and beyond) 

1. By 2030, expect to electrify an additional 24 gasoline and diesel-powered vehicles with 

relatively mid-range annual VMT. While these vehicles are not cost-effective to replace 

with EVs currently at their current annual VMTs, they are expected to be by 2030 due to 

a combination of anticipated decreasing battery costs, increasing sales volume for those 

specific vehicle types (and in the case of the Type C school buses, additional financial 

incentives and financing options).  



37 

 

2. For all other vehicles buy fueling offsets by or before 2030. 

  

Managed Charging Considerations 

EVs (and especially AEVs) can draw enough power while charging to increase monthly electricity demand 

charges for the facility where they are charged. This is most likely to occur at small facilities that are not 

eligible for off-peak nighttime charging rates, or large facilities where multiple EVs are charged during the 

day. Depending on Montpelier’s electricity rate structure and existing demand at various facilities, demand 

charges could add potentially hundreds of dollars in annual electricity costs per EV if not properly managed. 

These demand charges were not included in the annual cost estimates in this analysis.  

 



38 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A – Inventory of Buildings 

Building Name Building size (square feet) Heat Distribution Type Primary Heat Source 

Recreation Center              8,596  Steam #2 Heating Oil 

Senior Activity Center             10,892  Hydronic Wood pellets 

DPW Garage and Office            16,404  Commercial wall units #2 Heating Oil 

DPW R/M Shop  15,000  Commercial wall units #2 Heating Oil 

DPW R/M Shop #2                   7,704  Hydronic Propane  

WRRF Office              3,244  Hydronic Phase 1 - biogas project 

WRRF Utility Building #1               1,320  Commercial wall unit Phase 1 - biogas project 

WRRF Utility Building #2               1,932  Commercial wall unit Phase 1 - biogas project 

WRRF Utility Building #3              1,254  Commercial wall unit Phase 1 - biogas project 

WRRF Utility Building #4                 400  Commercial wall unit Phase 1 - biogas project 

WRRF Digester Building               1,980  Commercial wall unit Phase 1 - biogas project 

WRRF Garage               1,705  Commercial wall unit Phase 1 - biogas project 

Montpelier High School            89,847  Hydronic #2 Heating Oil 

Main Street Middle School            56,625  Hydronic #2 Heating Oil 

City Hall            28,622  Hydronic District Heat 

Fire Station              8,340  Hydronic District Heat 

Union Elementary School            60,804  Hydronic District Heat 

Hubbard Park Caretaker's House              1,840  Hydronic #2 Heating Oil 

Hubbard Park office              2,000  None #2 Heating Oil & Propane 

Green Mount Cemetery              2,296  None N/A 

Police Station              6,504  Hydronic District Heat 

Recreation Field Lodge              4,820  None None 

Cummings St Pump Station              1,404  None None 

Water Treatment Plant             14,000  Hydronic Propane  

 

 

 

 

  



39 

 

Appendix B – List of Vehicles by Department 
Department Equip #  Year Make Model Vehicle type Night time parking 

location 

Fuel Type 

AMB AMB 1  2016 FORD F450 Ambulance 61 Main St Diesel 

AMB AMB 2  2010 INT'L 2010 INT'L Ambulance 61 Main St Diesel 

DPW 027  2016 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 1 Ton Pickup Truck 811 Dog River Road  Diesel 

DPW 037  2015 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 1/2 Ton Pickup Truck 811 Dog River Road Unleaded 

DPW 024 2014 FORD F-150 1/2 Ton Pickup Truck 811 Dog River Road Unleaded 

DPW 043  2018 FORD F150 2WD 1/2 Ton Pickup Truck 811 Dog River Road Unleaded 

DPW 030  2014 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 1/2 Ton Pickup Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Unleaded 

DPW 023  2019 FORD F250 3/4 Ton Pickup Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Unleaded 

DPW 026  2011 FORD F250 3/4 Ton Pickup Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Unleaded 

DPW 016  2014 INTERNATIONAL 7400 Dump Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 004  2017 INTERNATIONAL 7400 Dump Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 017 2016 INTL 7400 Dump Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 006  2015 INTERNATIONAL 7400 Dump Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 010  2006 INTL 4300 Dump Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 009  2018 INTERNATIONAL 7400 Dump Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 008  2016 INTL 7400 Dump Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 047  2013 INTL 4300 DUMP Dump Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 042  2017 CHEVROLET EXPRESS VAN Full-sized Van 811 Dog River Road,  Unleaded 

DPW 029  2017 CASE 590SN Heavy Equipment - 

backhoe 

811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 088  2019 CRAFTCO KM T2 C1M2 Heavy Equipment – asphalt 

recycler 

811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 034  2017 CASE 621G Heavy Equipment – bucket 

loader 

811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 035  2017 CASE 621G Heavy Equipment – bucket 

loader 

811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 036  2013 CASE 621F Heavy Equipment – bucket 

loader 

811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 031  2009 CATERPILLAR CAT 120M Heavy Equipment - grader 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 059    SALSCO TP44 Heavy Equipment – track 

paver 

811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 057  
 

WACKER RD12A-90 Heavy Equipment - roller 811 Dog River Road,  Unleaded 

DPW 079  
 

KUBOTA GR2100-54 Lawn Tractor 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 033  2008 SERIAL DUO70095 SST37NE MD Bucket Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 001  2019 FORD F550 MD Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 003  2017 FORD F550 MD Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 007  2017 FORD F550 MD Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 025  2019 FORD F550 MD Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 021 2016 FORD F550 MD dump truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW PARK  2013 FORD F550 MD Truck 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 018  2007 CATERPILLER 303C CR Mini Excavator 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 044  2013 FORD INTERCEPTOR Police Car 811 Dog River Road,  Unleaded 

DPW 028 2012 CHEVROLET IMPALA Police Car 811 Dog River Road,  Unleaded 

DPW 015  2015 TRACKLESS MT-6 Sidewalk Plow 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 011  2014 TRACKLESS MT-6 Sidewalk Plow 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 012  2014 TRACKLESS MT-6 Sidewalk Plow 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 032  2014 JOHNSTON RT655 Street Sweeper 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 022  2004 JOHNSTON 4000 Street Sweeper 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 

DPW 013  2019 WACKER NEUSON RL30 Wheel Loader 811 Dog River Road,  Diesel 



40 

 

Department Equip #  Year Make Model Vehicle type Night time parking 

location 

Fuel Type 

GMC CEM 

TRK  

2012 FORD F550 MD Truck 250 State St,  Diesel 

HP PARK  2019 FORD F250 3/4 Ton Pickup Truck 401 Parkway Street Unleaded 

HP PARK 

VAN  

2002 DODGE 3500 Full-sized Van 401 Parkway Street Unleaded 

MFD TRK 5  2009 FORD F-150 1/2 Ton Pickup Truck 61 Main St,  Unleaded 

MFD RESCUE 

1  

2006 FORD F250 3/4 Ton Pickup Truck 61 Main St,  Unleaded 

MFD ENG 2  2013 E-ONE TYPHOON Fire Engine 61 Main St,  Diesel 

MFD ENG 1  
 

INTERNATIONAL 4800 4X4 Fire Engine - pumper 61 Main St,  Diesel 

MFD TOWER 

1 

 
SUTPEN MINNY TOWER Fire Engine 61 Main St,  Diesel 

MFD CHIEF 

CAR  

2013 FORD INTERCEPTOR Police Car 61 Main St,  Unleaded 

MPD 275  2016 CHEVROLET IMPALA Police Car 1 Pitkin Ct,  Unleaded 

MPD 277  2012 CHEVROLET IMPALA Police Car 1 Pitkin Ct,  Unleaded 

MPD 272  2018 CHEVROLET MALIBU Police Car 1 Pitkin Ct,  Unleaded 

MPD 274  2017 FORD INTERCEPTOR SUV 1 Pitkin Ct,  
 

MPD 276  2017 FORD INTERCEPTOR SUV 1 Pitkin Ct,  
 

MPD 273  2016 FORD INTERCEPTOR SUV 1 Pitkin Ct,  Unleaded 

MPD 271  2020 FORD INTERCEPTOR SUV (Hybrid) 1 Pitkin Ct,  Unleaded 

REC REC  2019 FORD F150 1/2 Ton Pickup Truck 55 Barre St,  Unleaded 

REC REC  
 

FORD F550 MD Truck 55 Barre St,  Unleaded 

SCHOOL MHS  2017 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 3/4 Ton Pickup Truck 5 High School Dr,  Unleaded 

SCHOOL FOOD 

VAN  

2017 FORD TRANSIT C VAN Full-sized Van 5 High School Dr,  Unleaded 

SCHOOL CBL 

VAN  

2019 FORD TRANSIT C VAN Full-sized Van 5 High School Dr,  Unleaded 

SCHOOL SP ED 

VAN  

2016 DODGE CARAVAN Minivan 5 High School Dr,  Unleaded 

SCHOOL ACT 

VAN  

2020 TOYOTA SIENNA LE Minivan (Hybrid) 5 High School Dr,  Unleaded 

School 

Contractor 

Bus 6  Unkn

own 

Unknown Unknown Type C School Bus 185 Ferno Road, 

Williamstown 

Diesel 

School 

Contractor 

Bus 7  Unkn

own 

Unknown Unknown Type C School Bus 185 Ferno Road, 

Williamstown 

Diesel 

School 

Contractor 

Bus 1  Unkn

own 

Unknown Unknown Type C School Bus 185 Ferno Road, 

Williamstown 

Diesel 

School 

Contractor 

Bus 2  Unkn

own 

Unknown Unknown Type C School Bus 185 Ferno Road, 

Williamstown 

Diesel 

School 

Contractor 

Bus 3  Unkn

own 

Unknown Unknown Type C School Bus 185 Ferno Road, 

Williamstown 

Diesel 

School 

Contractor 

Bus 4  Unkn

own 

Unknown Unknown Type C School Bus 185 Ferno Road, 

Williamstown 

Diesel 

School 

Contractor 

Bus 5   Unkn

own 

Unknown Unknown Type C School Bus 185 Ferno Road, 

Williamstown 

Diesel 

SENIOR 

CENTER 

SENIOR

VAN 

Unkn

own 

FORD E450 Full-sized Van 58 Barre St,  Unleaded 

WTP 048  2015 CHEVROLET SILVERADO 3/4 Ton Pickup Truck 1480 Paine Turnpike N, 

Berlin 

Unleaded 

WWTP 045  Unkn

own 

CHEVROLET SILVERADO 1/2 Ton Pickup Truck 784 Dog River Road,  Unleaded 

 



41 

 

Appendix C – List of Measures Assessed 

Category Measure Description Measure 

life (years) 

Capital Cost 

Ranges 

Energy 

Efficiency 

Weatherization Air-sealing and adding insulation. Typically 

results in 5-25% reduction in heating fuel 

needs. 

Custom Custom 

 HVAC Controls Greater efficiency and precision in the 

timing and delivery of heat when heat is 

needed. Typically results in 5-10% reduction 

in heating fuel needs. 

15 Custom 

Electrification 

Measures 

Cold-climate air-

source heat 

pumps (ducted 

and ductless) 

High-efficiency HVAC system that provides 

heating and cooling by concentrating 

outdoor energy for conditioned indoor 

space. Considered air to air units for smaller 

buildings and air-to-water units for larger 

buildings. Provides heating and cooling 

only. Typically covers 50% to 90% of space 

heating load.  

15 $400 - $450k 

per mmBtu/hr 

Ground source 

heat pumps 

High-efficiency HVAC system that provides 

heating and cooling by concentrating 

energy extracted from belowground into 

conditioned indoor space. Can provide 

heating, cooling and domestic hot water. 

Typically designed to cover 100% of space 

heating, DHW, and cooling loads.  

20 $700- $800k 

per mmBtu/hr 

Heat pump hot 

water heaters 

High-efficiency unit that concentrates heat 

from indoor conditioned space into hot 

water supply. 

15 $2 - $5k 

Induction stoves High-efficiency electric range and oven 

units. For use at buildings confirmed to 

have propane ovens and ranges. 

15 $4k -$9k 

Electric cars  Electric versions of light duty vehicles are 

increasingly available and cost effective. 

They are generally about 3-4 times more 

efficient than their fossil powered 

counterparts. 

5-12 $5-$25k 

(incremental, 

including 

charging 

infrastructure) 

Electric trucks Electric medium and heavy-duty trucks and 

other specialized large vehicles are currently 

limited in availability, and significantly more 

expensive than fossil fuel counterparts due 

to their need for very large battery packs, 

but both are expected to improve in the 

future. They are generally about 3-4 times 

more efficient than their fossil powered 

counterparts and offer dramatic local air 

quality improvements. 

8-15 $35-$260k 

(incremental, 

including 

charging 

infrastructure) 

Electric heavy 

equipment 

Currently very few electric options on the 

market (mostly small to medium-sized 

equipment) but options are expected to 

improve in the future. They are generally 

8-15 $6-$30K 

(incremental, 

including 



42 

 

about 3-4 times more efficient than their 

fossil powered counterparts, and offer 

dramatic local air quality improvements 

charging 

infrastructure) 

Advanced 

wood 

heating 

Dry chip boiler Modern solid fuel boiler fueled with pre-

dried woodchips. Smaller and more efficient 

than traditional “green” wood chip boilers”. 

Provides 100% of space heating and 

domestic hot water.  

30 $250 - $275k 

per mmBtu/hr 

Wood pellet boiler Modern solid fuel boiler fueled with loose, 

bulk wood pellets. Provides 100% of space 

heating and domestic hot water. 

30 $200 - $250k 

per mmBtu/hr 

Biofuels B20 Used for heating, vehicles and heavy 

equipment. Locally available. 

N/A No upgrade 

typically 

needed 

B100 Used for heating, vehicles and heavy 

equipment. Not locally available yet.  

N/A $15k/vehicle 

to enable year-

round use 

Renewable diesel  Used for heating, vehicles and heavy 

equipment. Not locally available yet. 

N/A No upgrade 

needed 

Carbon 

Offsets 

Offset Purchases Can be used to offset emissions from 

continued fossil fuel usage. Further 

discussion of offsets can be found in 

Appendix D. 

 Annual 

purchase as 

operating 

expense 

 

  



43 

 

Appendix D – Discussion of Carbon Offsets 

Description: While carbon emissions are not the main focus of this work, this analysis did include 

consideration for emissions reductions that would occur as a result of reducing fossil fuel use. 

Carbon offsets are a tool to help entities meet short term emissions targets while working towards 

long-term emissions reduction or fuel switching goals. A carbon offset is simply a credit that 

represents one metric ton of carbon dioxide (CO2) or carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) that has 

been reduced or stored as the result of a specific project. Once purchased, credits are retired and 

credited towards the purchaser’s greenhouse gas inventory.  

Carbon offsets provide flexibility by allowing organizations to bridge gaps they may face towards 

meeting specific emissions targets. For the City of Montpelier, carbon offsets represent a way to 

offset the emissions from continued fossil fuel use. There are several key decisions that should be 

made when purchasing offsets: 

Decision Points Description 

Purchasing 

Mechanism 

There are a variety of pathways to purchase carbon offsets, including: 

• Retailers: Usually this is the simplest option. Retailers provide a registry of carbon offset 

projects and support purchases. 

• Project Developers: Purchasing entities can invest in future projects, enter into purchasing 

agreements, or purchase unsold carbon offsets directly from a project developer. 

• Brokers: often used to facilitate large transactions and portfolio of projects.19 

Project Verification There are a number of organizations that certify carbon offset projects. Certifications help 

verify that the projects are real, and offsets can be reasonably claimed. In North America, 

the most common certifications are from Verra (verified carbon units), Climate Action 

Reserve (climate reserve tonnes), American Carbon Registry (verified emissions 

reductions), and Gold Standard (Certified and Verified Emissions Reductions).20 

Additionality In order to claim emissions reductions, projects need to prove that they go beyond 

business as usual, and reductions occur in addition, to what would have happened under 

normal circumstances; and would not have occurred without the carbon market 

mechanism. Cheaper offsets often are found to have weaker claims of additionality.21 

Geography Purchasing entities may be interested in supporting projects on a local, national, or 

international basis.  

Project Type Offsets can be claimed from a variety of types of projects. The most common projects in 

North America are waste disposal, forestry, chemical processing/industrial manufacturing, 

and renewable energy.22 

Vintage Year Vintage year refers to the year in which the emissions reduction occurs.  

Cost Costs for carbon offsets can vary based on all of the factors noted above.  

 

 
19 Carbon Offset Guide. 2021. Stockholm Environment Institute. Greenhouse Gas Management Institute. 
20 Donofrio, Maguire, Myers. 2021. Ecosystem Marketplace Insights Brief: Buyers of Voluntary Carbon Offsets, A 

Regional Analysis. https://app.hubspot.com/documents/3298623/view/125182374?accessId=a759f9  
21 Carbon Offset Guide. 2021. Stockholm Environment Institute. Greenhouse Gas Management Institute.  
22 Donofrio, Maguire, Myers. 2021. Ecosystem Marketplace Insights Brief: Buyers of Voluntary Carbon Offsets, A 

Regional Analysis. https://app.hubspot.com/documents/3298623/view/125182374?accessId=a759f9  

https://app.hubspot.com/documents/3298623/view/125182374?accessId=a759f9
https://app.hubspot.com/documents/3298623/view/125182374?accessId=a759f9


44 

 

The factors above largely impact the cost of the resulting credits, and the City will need to identify 

what is the best option based on its priorities.  

Anticipated Fossil Fuel Reduction: Carbon offset purchases will not reduce fossil fuels used by 

the City of Montpelier. 

Anticipated Emissions Reduction: As the City works toward its 2030 goal, it may want to use 

offsets to fill the gap for fossil fuels currently used. It may ramp up the purchase of offsets to 

phase the practice in or may wait until the 2030 and only cover any remaining fossil fuels. The 

cost and impact vary with the amount the City chooses to cover. For example, if the City covered 

all of its FY2020 emissions, it would purchase 1,628 credits (representing 1628 tonnes of CO2e). 

As more work is done to replace and reduce fossil fuel usage, the number of carbon offsets needed 

is expected to reduce over time. 

Anticipated Costs: Carbon offset costs vary largely based on the factors noted above. In 2019, 

on average, carbon offsets purchased by entities in North America, were $3.29/tonne.23 However, 

prices can vary drastically and high-quality offsets have been known to cost more than $10/tonne. 

Project type, quality, procurement mechanism, location, certification, and vintage all factor into 

overall price. 

Resources:  

1. Native Energy, Inc. located in Burlington works as a carbon offset retailer and project 

developer.  

2. Vermont Land Trust published a study focused on Vermont’s opportunity for creating 

forest carbon projects.24 

3. Stockholm Environment Institute and Greenhouse Gas Management Institute have an in-

depth guide on carbon offset purchasing and best practices.25 

  

 
23 Ibid. 
24 2018. Vermont Forest Carbon: A Market Opportunity for Forestland Owners. Vermont Land Trust, Spatial 

Informatics Group, The Carbon Lab. https://vlt.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Vermont_Forest_Carbon.pdf 
25 Carbon Offset Guide. 2021. Stockholm Environment Institute. Greenhouse Gas Management Institute. 

A Note About Carbon Offsets: 

Carbon offsets are a tool used to claim greenhouse gas emissions reductions. These credits can be 

purchased to support claims on emissions reductions and bridge any gaps in emissions reduction goals. 

While these credits do not keep fossil fuels from being used, they can help counter the emissions that are 

caused by the usage of fossil fuels and other emitting sources. In the context of the City of Montpelier, 

carbon offsets are a potential tool to help reduce the impact from fossil fuels as they are phased out. 



45 

 

Appendix E – Action Plan Summary Table 

Table 9 Summary Table of Net Zero Building Actions 

Department Action Item  Priority 

Ranking 

Timeframe Simple 

payback 

Notes 

School 

District 

Install dry wood chip 

boiler at MHS 

1 2022 - 2024 18 years Tight space - 

further assessment 

need 

Install dry woodchip 

boiler at MMS  

1 2022 - 2024 16 years Tighter space 

Efficiency measures  2 On-going     

DPW Install pellet boiler at 

office and garage 

2 2025-2027  19 years   

Install ccASHP at 

maintenance shops 

2 2025-2027  10-26 

years 

  

Recreation Weatherization of 

Recreation Center 

2 2025-2027     

Install hydronic system 

and pellet boiler at 

Recreation Center 

2 2025-2027  15 years   

Water Plant Install pellet boiler  1 2021-2024  16 years   

General Install heat pumps at 

small buildings 

3 2028-2030 20+ Focus on smaller 

buildings with 

lower thermal loads 

Install heat pump water 

heaters for domestic hot 

water demands 

3 2028-2030     

Purchase carbon offsets 3 2030     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



46 

 

Department Action Item  Priority 

Ranking 

Timeframe 

DPW Electrify DPW high-annual mileage half-ton 

pick-up trucks 

1 2022-2027 

Install standard-power networked Level 2 

charging stations to support vehicles 

1 2022-2027 

Connect with peer fleet managers about 

transition to B20, and develop plan for 

deployment 

1 2021-2027 

Police Electrify high-annual mileage gasoline-

powered vehicles (SUVs) 

1 2021-2027 

Install standard-power networked Level 2 

charging stations to support vehicles 

1 2021-2027 

General During renovation or construction, make sites 

EV-ready 

1 2021-2027 

Coordinate with GMP on rate structures and 

electrification and charging plans 

1 2021-2027 

Monitor EV market and incentives for light-

duty replacement 

2 2025-2028 

Switch to B20 in all diesel operations 2 2025-2028 

Switch to renewable diesel when it becomes 

economically viable 

2 2025-2028 

Create a light duty all-electric vehicle pilot 

program 

2 2025-2028 

Electrify 24 mid-range gasoline or diesel 

vehicles 

3 2028-2030 

Purchase carbon offsets for any continued 

fossil fuel usage 

3 2030 

 

  



47 

 

Appendix F – Discussion of Incentives 

Thermal Energy Incentives: 

Green Mountain Power and Efficiency Vermont have modest incentive programs aimed at 

lowering the upfront costs of installing heat pumps. Incentive levels vary depending on the type 

and size of the heat pump systems. Further information can be found at - 

https://www.efficiencyvermont.com/rebates/list?cat=Heating%2C+Cooling+%26+Ventila

tion&hvacfilter=Heat+Pumps&type=  

While ground source heat pumps are currently eligible for federal income and investment tax 

credits, these would not be applicable to Municipal projects.  

For advanced wood heating systems fueled with either bulk wood pellets or chips, Efficiency 

Vermont offers custom incentives on qualifying technologies. Due to thermal budget 

constraints, the incentive level offered was lowered considerably in 2020. City representatives 

should contact Efficiency Vermont to learn more.  

In addition, the State of Vermont’s Clean Energy Development Fund (CEDF) has historically 

offered incentives and grant aimed at lowering the capital costs of installing advance wood 

heating systems. While CEDF does not currently offer incentives for municipal buildings, new 

offerings could be available in the future. Further details can be found at - 

https://publicservice.vermont.gov/content/funding-opportunities-projects  

 

Electric Vehicle Incentives and Funding Programs: 

There is significant policy activity as the state and federal level that could increase the availability 

of incentives or other funding for electric vehicles and charging equipment. It is recommended 

that Montpelier monitor legislation and take advantage of new programs as they become 

available. The following is information on existing programs. Federal – the federal tax credits won’t 

apply for a municipal fleet purchase but leasing options may incorporate the credits. The Climate 

Mayors EV Purchasing Collaborative has leasing programs that factor in the federal tax credit and 

provide other resources to municipalities (https://driveevfleets.org/). There is discussion of 

changing the federal incentive to allow it to be claimed at the point of sale which might streamline 

availability for municipalities and non-profits, but it is hard to predict  if or when that might 

happen. 

1. State – the State of Vermont incentives are only currently available to individual 

purchasers. There will be one exception to allow non-profit car sharing services to get a 

State incentive coming out of the just-passed state transportation bill. There was some 

https://www.efficiencyvermont.com/rebates/list?cat=Heating%2C+Cooling+%26+Ventilation&hvacfilter=Heat+Pumps&type=
https://www.efficiencyvermont.com/rebates/list?cat=Heating%2C+Cooling+%26+Ventilation&hvacfilter=Heat+Pumps&type=
https://publicservice.vermont.gov/content/funding-opportunities-projects
https://driveevfleets.org/
https://www.msn.com/en-us/autos/news/bidens-dollar2-trillion-infrastructure-plan-calls-for-ev-rebates-500000-charging-stations/ar-BB1fa737
https://www.msn.com/en-us/autos/news/bidens-dollar2-trillion-infrastructure-plan-calls-for-ev-rebates-500000-charging-stations/ar-BB1fa737


48 

 

talk of allowing municipal fleets to access incentives in the Legislature this year, but no 

action was taken. It is possible this could change in the future, but it is not expected in 

the next year. 

a. The State Department of Buildings and General Services has a State contract for 

EV charging equipment that Montpelier can access. The City could avoid 

engaging in a procurement process by participating in this program. 

https://bgs.vermont.gov/content/electric-vehicle-ev-charging-stations 

2. Utility – as long as the municipality is a utility customer, they can access utility incentives. 

Green Mountain Power offers the following incentives: $1,500 for an all-electric vehicle 

and $1,000 for a plug-in hybrid electric vehicle 

https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-innovation/electric-

vehicles/  

At this point, there are no state or federal incentives for medium or heavy-duty vehicles. However, 

the state’s Volkswagen Settlement program can be used to replace medium and heavy-duty 

diesel-powered vehicles. This program is administered by the Agency of Natural Resources and 

the City should watch for project solicitations. In addition, GMP can offer customized incentives 

through their Tier III program to support procurement of these vehicles and associated charging 

infrastructure. https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-

innovation/electric-vehicles/  

GMP also has incentives for public and workplace charging, including a low interest financing 

option through the State Infrastructure Bank (VEDA) that might be of interest: 

https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-innovation/electric-

vehicles/workplace-charging/  

https://bgs.vermont.gov/content/electric-vehicle-ev-charging-stations
https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-innovation/electric-vehicles/
https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-innovation/electric-vehicles/
https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-innovation/electric-vehicles/
https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-innovation/electric-vehicles/
https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-innovation/electric-vehicles/workplace-charging/
https://greenmountainpower.com/rebates-programs/business-innovation/electric-vehicles/workplace-charging/


From: Pam Smith
To: Miranda Bergmeier
Subject: Fwd: John Girard Fund
Date: Monday, October 23, 2023 7:23:57 PM

Miranda, 

Please include this email in the next packet.

Pam

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Pam Smith <pamsmith.sb@gmail.com>
Date: Mon, Oct 23, 2023, 2:35 PM
Subject: John Girard Fund
To: Marcia Calloway <msbcalloway@gmail.com>, Mary Layton <marydlayton@gmail.com>,
Roger Arnold <rogerarnoldvt@gmail.com>, Priscilla Vincent
<priscillavincentsb@gmail.com>
Cc: Brennan Duffy <bduffy@norwich.vt.us>, Treasurer <Treasurer@norwich.vt.us>, Miranda
Bergmeier <Mbergmeier@norwich.vt.us>

To all,

After reading the report from the Interim Finance Director (IFD) in the October 25, 2023 SB
packet, I did some research.  The IFD's report states:   

"The Mission statement that came from this family is to do the most good for the most
people.”   

I'm not sure where this mission statement is posted, as I have never seen it.  I did, however, go
back to the obituary where the family announced the creation of the "John Girard Fund".  The
obituary dated August 20, 2018, states:

In honor of our dad, Mr. G’s children are starting the John Girard Fund to
support athletic facilities and access for all children to engage in sports in
Norwich. In lieu of flowers, donations may be made to the Town of Norwich —
Recreation Department. (John Girard Fund).

As can be seen in this obituary, the family said that they were establishing "the John Girard
Fund".  Therefore, it seems appropriate to me from an accountability standpoint that any
donations to the John Girard Fund should be isolated in a special purpose fund to assure that
these funds are  properly accounted for and allow the oversight necessary to comply with the
intent of this fund.  While Fund #05 Recreation Facilities & Improvement Fund has a similar
mission, the co-mingling of these funds with donations to the John Girard Fund does not
provide for transparency and accountability to the Girard Family and the donors.

For the above reasons, it would behoove the Selectboard to direct the Town Manager to create
a separate special purpose fund for these donations.  This would comply with the family's
wishes and provide the transparency, accountability and oversight incumbent upon the Town

mailto:pamsmith.sb@gmail.com
mailto:MBergmeier@norwich.vt.us
mailto:pamsmith.sb@gmail.com
mailto:msbcalloway@gmail.com
mailto:marydlayton@gmail.com
mailto:rogerarnoldvt@gmail.com
mailto:priscillavincentsb@gmail.com
mailto:bduffy@norwich.vt.us
mailto:Treasurer@norwich.vt.us
mailto:Mbergmeier@norwich.vt.us


as the fiduciary of these funds.   

In addition, I believe a future rewrite of the Master Financial Policy should stipulate that the
co-mingling of funds is strictly prohibited. 

Respectfully,

Pam Smith

------------------------------------------
Please note that any reply or response to this email is subject to the disclosure provisions
under the Vermont Open Meeting Law and Public Records Act.



From: Pam Smith
To: Miranda Bergmeier
Subject: Fwd: Finance Report Question: Wages vs. Contracted Services
Date: Wednesday, October 25, 2023 8:25:05 AM

Miranda,

Please include this email in correspondence in the next SB packet.

Thanks....Pam

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Pam Smith <pamsmith.sb@gmail.com>
Date: Wed, Oct 25, 2023 at 8:24 AM
Subject: Finance Report Question: Wages vs. Contracted Services
To: Brennan Duffy <bduffy@norwich.vt.us>
Cc: Marcia Calloway <msbcalloway@gmail.com>, Mary Layton <marydlayton@gmail.com>,
Roger Arnold <rogerarnoldvt@gmail.com>, Priscilla Vincent
<priscillavincentsb@gmail.com>, Treasurer <Treasurer@norwich.vt.us>

Brennan,

I have some questions on the Finance Report dated September 30, 2023 in the SB packet for
October 25, 2023.  These questions are:

1)  It appears that the payments to Robert Half are being booked to "Finance Officer Wage". 
This is a contracted service with Robert Half. Thus, I believe these payments should be
booked under "Professional Services", as we are not paying the wages of the Finance
Officer.....Robert Half pays those wages.   

2)  Are the payments to TRORC for the contracted services of a Zoning Administrator being
booked as "Planning Office Wages"?  As noted in #1 above, this is a contracted service.  

3) The Town reports wages to the IRS, Social Security Administration, Vermont Department
of Taxes and on the Vermont Unemployment Tax filings.  In addition, all Workerk's
Compensation premiums are calculated on wages.  Are we paying additional taxes or
insurance premiums because contracted services are being booked in the wage category?

Respectfully, 

Pam Smith, Selectboard

----------------------------------
Please note that any reply or response to this email is subject to the disclosure provisions
under the Vermont Open Meeting Law and Public Records Act.

mailto:pamsmith.sb@gmail.com
mailto:MBergmeier@norwich.vt.us
mailto:pamsmith.sb@gmail.com
mailto:bduffy@norwich.vt.us
mailto:msbcalloway@gmail.com
mailto:marydlayton@gmail.com
mailto:rogerarnoldvt@gmail.com
mailto:priscillavincentsb@gmail.com
mailto:Treasurer@norwich.vt.us


-- 
Pam Smith, Selectboard

Please note that any reply or response to this email is subject to the disclosure provisions
under the Vermont Open Meeting Law and Public Records Act.



   
 

ECFiber is the East Central Vermont Telecommunications District 
415 Waterman Rd | South Royalton VT | 05068 | (802) 763-2262 | info@ecfiber.net 

Vermont’s First Communications Union District 

Your Community-Owned 
Connection to the World 

www.ecfiber.net 

Annual Report and Proposed District Budget 2024 
Vermont’s Communications Union Districts (CUDs) are obligated to annually “approve and cause to be 
distributed to the legislative body of each district member for review and comment an annual report of [the 
district’s] activities, together with a financial statement, a proposed district budget for the next fiscal year, 
and a forecast presenting anticipated year-end results.” 

Your town is one of 31 members of the East Central Vermont Telecommunications District, which owns 
the business operated under the trade name ECFiber, and this document is provided to the Selectboards of 
the district’s member towns in conformance with the law. We are also providing a template your 
municipality can follow to post notice of the public hearing which the district governing board will conduct 
on the district’s proposed budget on Tuesday, November 14, 2022, at 7pm.  

Report of Activities October 1, 2022 – September 30, 2023 

During the past year ECFiber added over 800 new customers and now serves about 8,200 premises in 23 
towns via 1,800 miles of fiber-optic cable. Taken together, there are about 31,500 premises in the district 
located on almost 2,000 miles of roads. 
 
The main goal of the district today is to execute our three year, nine-stage, $30 million network completion 
plan. In August of 2023, the District won a $13 million construction grant from the Vermont Community 
Broadband Fund, and this, combined with a $7.5 million bond we will offer in late 2023 will fund work 
through 2024, at which point we will have secured more funding via grants or additional borrowing. Stage I 
work in the Fairlees and Bradford has been underway since last spring and we hope to connect our first 
customers in those towns during the coming months.  
 
On June 27th this year, ECFiber celebrated the completion of its original mission, to build out a fiber-based 
broadband network in the 23 towns that created the business in 2008. WRJAM, the CATV operator in White 
River Junction, documented the exciting one-hour “Golden Patch Cord” event that featured Senator Welch 
(one of our customers!) and a dozen other speakers who held the audience spellbound as they recounted the 
creation of ECFiber. Enjoy it on YouTube: https://bit.ly/ECFiberCelebration.  
 
The global pandemic has, of course, proven beyond any doubt that rural Vermonters need access to world-
class broadband, but Vermont needs to find its own way forward because the market has conclusively 
shown it cannot, even with construction subsidy, serve every home and business on the grid in the state. 
ECFiber has demonstrated that this can be accomplished in a cost-effective manner without putting any 
burden on taxpayers. Until 2021, the district was funded almost entirely by customer revenues, which in 
turn backed tax-free municipal revenue bonds issued by the District to raise capital to build our 
infrastructure. This model is now the state’s strategy for solving the rural broadband crisis and nine CUDs 
like ECFiber are working hard to get going. 
 

http://www.ecfiber.net/
https://bit.ly/ECFiberCelebration


ECFiber: Your Community-Owned Connection to the World 

2 
 

The District contract with ValleyNet to operate the ECFiber business was transferred to GWI Vermont, LLC, 
a wholly owned subsidiary of Great Works Internet of Biddeford, Maine, at the start of 2023. All ValleyNet 
employees became GWI employees at that time and our original home-grown staff continues to keep it 
Vermonty, and ECFiber now has better access to and a better story for prospective employees of its 
operating partner.  
 
This is critically important, because the difficult labor market has continued to delay getting construction 
and process improvement work done. The District believes the influx of resources and opportunities GWI 
brings to the table will help close that gap and speed completion of the new towns. 
 
Miraculously, we – the member towns -- collectively own and operate a fiber-to-the-premises network built 
without burdening local taxpayers. This world-class network delivers a level of broadband service not 
generally available outside of large modern cities or dense, wealthy suburbs.  
 
We invite you to visit our website to learn more about ECFiber, access our district map showing member 
towns and network build status, and access minutes of our governing board meetings, audits, and annual 
reports. Details about our bonds and current trades are available at EMMA, the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board market access site. 
 
Just as a reminder, we ask each town to renew its appointments to the governing board each year after town 
meeting and before the end of April. The regular governing board meetings take place monthly on the 
second Tuesday, with the May meeting doubling as the annual meeting of the district. 
 
F. X. Flinn, Chair, Governing Board (Town of Hartford Delegate) 
e: chair@ecfiber.net | m: 802-369-0069 
October 16, 2023, Quechee, Vermont  
 
Attachments: 
Proposed 2024 District Budget 
Public Hearing Notice Template 

https://emma.msrb.org/IssuerHomePage/Issuer?id=4B5898CDD35896A385F22AFED2FF41AB&type=G
mailto:chair@ecfiber.net


ECFiber: Your Community-Owned Connection to the World 

3 
 

 
Notes: 
Amounts rounded to nearest thousand except debt service ratio calculation.  
Financial statements are included in our 2022 Audit, available on our website.  
EBITDA: Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization.  
The District’s Revenue Bond require EBITDA to exceed 1.25x of annual debt service. 

East Central Vermont 
Telecommunications District 
Operating Budget 2024

 2023 
Projections 

 2024 Budget 

Network Miles 1,985 2,000
Subscribers 7,988 10,500

Revenues
Subscriptions 10,479,698$ 13,711,000$    
Installation 173,369$       247,000$          
Grants and Misc Revenues 2,625,152$    13,439,000$    

Operating Revenues 13,278,219$ 27,397,000$    
Operating Expenses

Cost of Goods Sold 1,200,250$    1,631,000$      
Employees 1,790,198$    2,748,000$      
Overhead Expenses 2,049,726$    2,531,000$      

Operating Expenses 5,040,174$    6,910,000$      

Operating Surplus (EBITDA) 8,238,045$    20,487,000$    
Debt Service 4,310,576$   5,000,000$      

Debt Service Ratio (1.25 minimum) 1.91 4.10
Operating Surplus after Debt Service 3,927,469$   15,487,000$   

Other Income
Interest Income $374,685 $451,000

Total Revenue 8,612,731$    20,938,000$    
Other Expenses

Interest - New Bonds 3,050,395$    3,600,000$      
Interest - Vehicle Loans -$                10,000$            
Issuance Expenses -$                510,000$          
Amortization of Note Prepayment Penalties 63,514$          56,000$            
Depreciation (30 year) 1,890,024$    2,000,000$      

Net income 3,608,798$    14,762,000$    

Construction Sources and Uses of Cash

Net Construction Fund Position BOY 3,000,000$    5,132,000$      
Grants Received 2,660,000$    13,439,000$    
Net Proceeds Bond Issuance 7,040,000$    

Available for Construction 12,700,000$ 18,571,000$    
Construction Expenses $7,568,000 $18,142,000

Net Construction Fund Position EOY 5,132,000$    429,000$          



 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
East Central Vermont 

Telecommunications District 
(dba ECFiber)  

Proposed Budget for 2024 

The East Central Vermont Telecommunications District will hold a public hearing on Tuesday, 
November 14th, 2023 at 7 pm in conjunction with its regular monthly board meeting. 

The purpose of this hearing is to consider the proposed district budget for 2024. Copies of the 
meeting agenda, proposed budget, annual report, and financial statements can be reviewed 
online at 

https://www.ecfiber.net/meeting-agendas-minutes/  

or are available upon request in written or electronic form.  

The meeting will be held virtually, via Zoom, rather than at a single physical location. However, 
anyone wishing to attend physically at a public location within the District should contact the 
Secretary at least one business day in advance for accommodation. 

Zoom details 

Phone: 646 931 3860 
Meeting ID: 860 4956 7873 
Passcode: 341790 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86049567873?pwd=YlZiYzNxUExlQkVPRFN3TCtGL2x1UT09 
 
Contact: 

Jeff Brand, Secretary 
East Central Vermont Telecommunications District 
415 Waterman Rd 
Royalton, VT 05068 
802-763-2262 | Secretary@ECFiber.net 

https://www.ecfiber.net/meeting-agendas-minutes/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86049567873?pwd=YlZiYzNxUExlQkVPRFN3TCtGL2x1UT09
mailto:Secretary@ECFiber.net


1

Debi Wade

From: Marcia Calloway <msbcalloway@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, November 2, 2023 9:18 AM
To: Miranda Bergmeier; Brennan Duffy; Debi Wade
Subject: Fwd: SB Liaison Report to MCS Board

Good morning, 
 
Emails from selectboard members which are not related to agenda setting should be put in the upcoming packet for 
correspondence. 
 
Many thanks, 
 
Marcia 
 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ Forwarded message ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Pam Smith <pamsmith.sb@gmail.com> 
Date: Tue, Oct 31, 2023 at 8:00 PM 
Subject: SB Liaison Report to MCS Board 
To: Marcia Calloway <msbcalloway@gmail.com>, Mary Layton <marydlayton@gmail.com>, Roger Arnold 
<rogerarnoldvt@gmail.com>, Priscilla Vincent <priscillavincentsb@gmail.com> 
Cc: Brennan Duffy <bduffy@norwich.vt.us> 
 

To all, 
 
Tonight, I tried to access the last 2 SB agendas to create my notes for the MCS School Board meeting tomorrow 
night.  Unfortunately, the link for the October 11, 2023 agenda yields an error message: 
 
https://norwich.vt.us/wp‐content/uploads/2023/10/01‐10‐11‐23‐Agenda.pdf 
 
And, the link for the October 11, 2023 packet yields the same error message:  
 
https://norwich.vt.us/wp‐content/uploads/2023/10/00‐Selectboard‐Packet‐10‐11‐23‐Indexed.pdf 
 
 
As you know, I have been frustrated for some time with the Town's website. I have previously noted that the webpage 
shows links for SB agendas from May 19, 2016 to November 9, 2016.  Then the next agenda sequence begins with the 
March 8, 2023 SB Meeting.  The gap in available agendas makes research far more difficult, particularly because the 
practice of putting the agenda in the packet is a somewhat recent development. 
 
Please do not "reply to all".  This email is strictly informational to call your attention to the ongoing problems with the 
Town's website.  It is my hope that improving the Town's website will be on a SB agenda in the future. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Pam Smith 
 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 



2

Please note that any reply or response to this email is subject to the disclosure provisions under the Vermont Open 
Meeting Law and Public Records Act. 



Understanding  
Advance Directives  

and End-of-Life Choices
The Norwich Community Nurse, Inc. will give a presentation 
on advanced directives and end-of-life decision making. The 
Vermont forms will be available and we will have plenty of time 
for questions.  

Assistance with completing documents will also be available.

Thursday, November 9 • 3:30–5:30 pm
Fellowship Hall, Norwich Congregational Church

All Norwich residents are invited 

Refreshments will be served!

The Norwich  
Community Nurse

for Norwich, Vermont



1

Debi Wade

From: Marcia Calloway <msbcalloway@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, November 2, 2023 9:20 AM
To: Miranda Bergmeier; Brennan Duffy; Debi Wade
Subject: Fwd: Budget Priorities - again!

 
Good morning, 
 
Emails from selectboard members which are not about scheduling should be put in the upcoming packet as 
correspondence. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Marcia 
 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ Forwarded message ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Priscilla Vincent <priscillavincentsb@gmail.com> 
Date: Wed, Nov 1, 2023 at 9:40 PM 
Subject: Budget Priorities ‐ again! 
To: Brennan Duffy <bduffy@norwich.vt.us>, Marcia Calloway <msbcalloway@gmail.com>, Mary Layton 
<marydlayton@gmail.com>, Pam Smith <pamsmith.sb@gmail.com>, Roger Arnold <rogerarnoldvt@gmail.com> 
 

I would like to request that our upcoming budget discussions include Barrie, our finance director.  I would also like to 
request that each department head be invited to present his or her budget, and be part of our discussion that evening. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Priscilla 



1

Debi Wade

From: Marcia Calloway <msbcalloway@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, November 2, 2023 9:19 AM
To: Miranda Bergmeier; Brennan Duffy; Debi Wade
Subject: Fwd: Budget Priorities

Good morning, 
 
Emails from selectboard members which are not about scheduling should be put in the upcoming packet as 
correspondence. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Marcia 
 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ Forwarded message ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
From: Priscilla Vincent <priscillavincentsb@gmail.com> 
Date: Wed, Nov 1, 2023 at 9:04 PM 
Subject: Budget Priorities 
To: Brennan Duffy <bduffy@norwich.vt.us>, Marcia Calloway <msbcalloway@gmail.com>, Mary Layton 
<marydlayton@gmail.com>, Pam Smith <pamsmith.sb@gmail.com>, Roger Arnold <rogerarnoldvt@gmail.com> 
 
 
Four members of the SelectBoard have shared their budget priorities with the board, the town manager, and the public 
(through the packet for the last SelectBoard meeting).  I would like to request that the fifth member of the board do 
likewise.  
 
Priscilla  



From: Stuart Richards
To: Mary Layton; Roger Arnold; Marcia Calloway; Priscilla Vincent; Pam smith
Cc: Brennan Duffy; Miranda Bergmeier
Subject: POLICE
Date: Thursday, November 2, 2023 11:41:07 AM

Dear Selectboard:
 
Norwich not so long ago replaced, almost  the entire police force.  I find it very concerning
that I recently heard from employees that Norwich would soon need to look for a new police
force to again replace the entire force which may be leaving.  Now why do you suppose that
is?  Recent comments include:  There is no future for us here.  And if you ask why the answer
is pretty simple.  Starting pay for police officers in almost every town in Vermont is $5-$8
more per hour than Norwich. There is absolutely nothing here to attract applicants.  Here are
a few items of concern:
*4 chiefs in 4 years
*short staffed for over 4 years
*low wages
*defunded the fifth police officer CSO position
*no money for training or professional development - no college tuition reimbursement
*lack of equipment and/or out of date technology
* 2.5 years to negotiate the last contract, 14 months into this round of negotiations with no
movement
*regular violations of the union contract
*a Town Manager that makes $70/hour
 
In addition there’s been an increase in medical costs so police are getting paid less today than
they were a year ago. Cutting police pay is certainly not a way to retain employees or treat
them fairly.  And how can you successfully advertise and recruit when Norwich pays non
competitive wages.  The Town is doing a belated wage study but the results of that will not be
known timely for the budget and it appears it will be too little too late. The third police officer
has not been replaced and we are shorthanded and there is little advertising to replace that
officer.   Moreover, the fifth police officer that was voted by the Town has not been acted on. 
Taking these comments together you have to wonder why our Town Manager and
Selectboard are not taking corrective action.  I think most of us would like to have a police
force that likes working in Norwich and that is fairly compensated.  Unfortunately the
Selectboard and Town Manager have not acted to make that happen.
 
Please put this email in correspondence for the next Selectboard meeting.
 
Thank you,
 
Stuart Richards

mailto:srichards@globalrescue.com
mailto:marydlayton@gmail.com
mailto:rogerarnoldvt@gmail.com
mailto:msbcalloway@gmail.com
mailto:priscilla.e.vincent@gmail.com
mailto:pamsmith.SB@gmail.com
mailto:BDuffy@norwich.vt.us
mailto:MBergmeier@norwich.vt.us


 



LL/02/23
03:41 pn

Vendor

Town of, Norwich Accounts Payable
Check ffallant RePort # 1070 Current Prior Next FY Invoices For Fund (PO'ICE CRUISER)

For Check Acct o3(ceneral) Àlt check #s LL/08/23 ro LL/08/23 & Fund 11

Invoice fnvoíce Descliption
Date Invoice Nuribêr Àccount

Page 1 of 1

ashleyw

À¡nount

Paid
Check Check

Nunìbe! Date

A-1 À-1 GRAP¡IICS LLC 04 /L8/23 PD-CRUISER DECAI.S

418DECÀLS

11-5-500322.00

PO¡.ICE CRUISER

1800.00 L3904 LL/08/23

1800.00ReporÈ Total,

To the Treasure! of, Town of Norwich¿ We hereby certify
that there is due to the several pêrsons whose niles are
listed hereon the sm agaínst each nme and that there
are good and sufficient vouchers supporting the palments

aggregating S *****X. 800.00

Let this be your order f,or the palments of thesê mounts

Staff Àccountant

SELECTBOÀRD:

ÀshIey
Town Manager:

Prísci11a vincênt

Brennan Duffy

Marcia Calloway

chair

Maly Layton
Vice Chair

Roger Àrnold Pil Smittr



LL/02/23

03:42 pm

vendor

Town of, Norwich Accounts Payable

Check llaÛant Report # 1071 Current Prior Next FY Invoices For Fund (General)

For Check Acct 03(cêneral) AI1 check *s Lf/08/23 To Lf/O8/23 t Fund 01

Påge I of 5

ashleyw

fnvoice

Date

Invoice Description
Invoice Number

Ànount

Paid
Chêck Chêck

Nuriber DateAccount

LÀ¡'IPAA À.ARON IJIITPERTI

AGRE AGRESOURCE INC

LO/17/23 FD-ÀÀRON SWTTCT¡ r KrT 01-5-555528.00

1o1?EMPREIMB FIRE TRK R & M

L0/L6/23 peR-t00 YRDS COMPOST DELV 01-5-425322.00

48566 REC FIELD CÀRE

L64.54 L3905 LL/08/23

3800.00 13906 LL/08/23

NOT¡IERNÀI, ÀI,EX NORTIIERN 23 FD-AIEX CÀR ÀCCESSORXES

llOlEMPRTIMB

11

ÀNYTIME ANYÎTME CÀRPET CÀRE Ê CLE IO/3O/23 PD-STATION CLEANING

À1G ÀTG LEBANON, L¡.C

734180

L0 /20 /23 DPW-TRUCK REPATRS

?01006148:01

L0 /20 / 23 DPÍr-TRUCK RrPÀrRS

701006148:01

LO /30 /23 DPW-ÀIR SPRING

701034138:01

09 / 29 / 23 DPT{-PORTA TOII,ET

42969

TLl OT/ 23 DP!Í-PORTÀ TOÍLET

43s89

r0/L6/23 DPW-Brr SET

20L639 /1
t0/09/23 DPW-SPONGE

222L98 / 6

LO/LI/23 PD_SUPPTIES

22265r/6
LO /T6/ 23 DPW-ASSORTED SUPPLIES

223698/ 6

r0/L7/23 P&R-STAPTES

223780 / 6

L0 /L7 /23 DPIi-CONCR SCR

22390'1 / 6

LO /L9 /23 PD-KEY SCI¡I,AGE

224547 / 6

LO /25/ 23 DP¡I-ASSORTED PÀRTS

225635/ 6

LO / 26 / 23 PER*ASSORTED SUPPLIES

225927 / 6

L0 / 30 / 23 PúR-ÀSSRID SUPPLTES

lO3OEMPREII{B

LO/20/23 DPW-NOV '23 INTERNET

NOV23DPWINT

LO /L8 /23 ED-I'I,UID FILM

19813

09 / O! / 23 TC-MONTT¡I,Y RESOLUTION

154 97 0

LO /3L/23 DP!{-REPLACE CHAINSAW

36867

LO/L6/23 TH-NOV '23 DENTAI. INS

NOV23DENTÀI

L0/L6/23 TS-NOV '23 DENTAÍ. rNS

NOV23DENTAT,

ATG ÀTc TEBANON, tLC

ÀTG ÀTG LEBANON, LI,C

BESTSEPT BEST SEPTIC SERVICE, I,LC

BESTSEPT BEST SEPTTC SERVTCE/ ttc

BETHEI,MTL BETHEL MITLS

BETHELMIL BETIIET MIL],S

BETHEÍ,MIL BEÍIIEL MTI,LS

BET¡TELMIL BETHE¿ MILIS

BETHELMTL BETTIET MII,],S

BETHEI,MIL BETHEL MTLLS

BET¡IEI.MIL BET}IET MILIS

BETIIEI,MIL BETIIEL MITLS

BEÎI¡ELMIL BETHEL MIII.S

SWENBR BRIE SI{ENSON

coMcÀsî coMcÀsT

cooP COOP SERVICE CENTER

COTT COTT SYSTEMS INC

D&B DTB OUTDOOR PO¡IER EQUIP,,

DEI,TÀ DEN DELTÀ DENIAI,

I'IRE TOOLS E E9UIPMENT

01-s-48s304 .00

CLEANING

01-5-703403.00

PÀRTS E SUPPI,IES

01-s-703401.00
OUTSIDE REPAIRS

01-5-703403.00

P.ARTS å SUPP],XES

01-5-?0541X.00

REPÀIRS E MAINTENÀNCE

01-s-70s411.00

REPÀIRS & MAINTENÀNCE

01-5-706113.00

REPAIRS û MAINTENÀNCE

01-5-?03s07.00
SUPP],IES

01-5-500204 .00

SPEED SXGNS

01-5-706113.00

REPÀIRS & MÀINTENÀNCE

0L-5-4252rL.00
E9UIPMENT

01-5-706113.00

REPÀIRS E MAINTENÀNCE

01-s-s00s01.00
ÀDMINISTRÀTION

01-5-?06109.00

BUII,DING SUPPLIES

01-5-425330.00

REPÀIRS E MAINT

0L-5-425220.OO

SPECIÀT EVENTS /SUPPLIES

01-5-?0350s.00
TEI,EPIIONE

01-5-555528.00

FIRETRKREM
01-5-100615.00

DUES/MTCS/EDUC

01-5-703513.00

TOOLS

01-5-704125.00

DENTÀI. INSUR,ANCE

01-5-703125.00

DENTÀ¡ TNSURANCE

410.00 L3908 tL/08/23

1s37.0s L39O9 LL/05/23

1925.00 r39O9 LL/08/23

84.85 L3909 Lr/08/23

130.00 L39L0 LL/08/23

130.00 ß9ro LL/08/23

26.99 L39rL LL/O8/23

3.99 L39LL rL/08/23

78.75 L39LL LL/08/23

33.06 L39!L LL/08/23

6.59 L39LL LL/08/23

14.00 L39LL LL/08/23

7.18 L39Lr u/O8/23

3L.28 L39LL LL/OS/23

67.47 L39LL rL/0e/23

333.04 L39L2 LL/05/23

237.23 !39L3 rL/08/23

L99.99 L39L4 Lr/08/23

290.00 r39L5 LL/08/23

1511.99 L39L6 LL/08/23

103.71 L39L1 Lr/09/23

DELTÀ DEN DEI,TA DENTÀI, -L07.94 L39L7 LL/08/23



1r/02/23
03:42 pm

Vendor

Town of Norwich Àccounts payable

Check Warrant Report # 1071 Current prior Next Fy Invoices For Eund (ceneral)
For Check Acct o3(General) Àll check *s fL/O8/23 Io LL/OB/23 & Fund 01

Pagê 2 of 5

ashleyw

Invoice

Datê

Invoice Description
Invoíce Nqnber

Àmount

Paid
Chêck Check

Number DateÀccount

DELTA DEN DELTÀ, DENTAI,

DELTÀ DEN DELTÀ, DENTÀI.

LO/L6/23 TII-NOV '23 DENTÀL INS

NOV23DENTÀI

LO/L6/23 TH-NOV '23 DENTÀ! rNS

NOV23DENTÀ],

01-5-100125.00

DENTÀI. INSURANCE

01-5-555126.00

DENTÀI, INSURÀNCE

67.73 L39r1 LL/O8/23

67.'t3 L39L1 !r/08/23

DEITÀ DEN DELTÀ DENTÀI,

DETTA DEN DELTÀ DENTÀL

DEJ,TÀ DEN DELTJI DENTÀL

DEI,TÀ DEN DELTÀ DENTÀI.

DYERS DYERS WELDING ÀND UPPER V

MYERS EM EMILY MYERS

FRIETS ERIC FRIEÍS

EVÀNSMOTO EVANS GROUP, rNC

EVÀNSMOTO EVÀNS GROUP, rNC

EVÀNSMOTO EVÀNS GROUP. INC

EYEMED EYEMED/FIDELITY SECURITY

I'TSNE FTRE TECH E SÀFETY OF NEÍI

FIRSTIIGH FTRSTLIGHT ETBER

FIRSTITGH EIRSTLTGHT FTBER

FTRSTI,IGII ¡'IRSTLTGHT FTBER

FIRSTT,IGH ¡'IRSTLIGHT FIBER

TTRSTI,IGH FTRSTLIGHT ¡'IBER

FIRSTLXG¡I FIRSTLIGIIT FIBER

FIRSTLIGH F'IRST],IGHT FIBER

FIRSTLIGH FIRST¡,IGIIT FIBER

GMPC GREEN MOI'NTÀIN POWER CORP

NOV23DENTAI DENTÀI, INSURANCE

L0/r6/23 TH-NOV '23 DENTÀL rNS 01-5-500125,00

NOV23DENTAT. DELTÀ DENTAL

L0/t6/23 TH-NOV '23 DENTÀL rNS 01-5-005125.00

NOV23DENTÀI. DENTAI. ]NSURANCE

L0/L6/23 TII-NOV '23 DENTÀr rNS 01-5-100125.00

NOV23DENTÀI DENTÀT. TNSURANCE

L0/L6/23 TH-NOV '23 DENTÀI, rNS 01-5-200125.00

NOV23DENTÀT DENTAI, TNSUR,ANCE

t0/r9/23 DPW-TTNDERCOATTNG 01-5-?03401.00

007735 OUTSIDE REPÀIRS

t0/25/23 TH-MArN ST F],Àc 01-5-?06109.00

1O25EMPREI¡ÁB BUIIDING SUPPLIES

L0/29/23 FD-ERIC GENERÀTOR WHEELS 01-5-555528.00

1O2SEMPREIMB FIRE TRK R E M

08/30/23 Dpw-DrEsEl 490 cÀrs 01-1-004105.00

0052332-IN Inventory-DPw Fuêling Sta
LO/L7/23 DPW-REG cÀS 490 cÀ¡.S 01-1-004105.00

0054539-IN fnventory-DPw Fueling Sta
lo/25/23 Dpw-DrEsEL 420 cArs 01-1-004r.05.00

0055036-IN Xnventory-DPlf Fueling Sta
LO/22/23 rH-NOv '23 vrsroN rNs 01-2-001126.00

166013095 VISION SERV PT,ÀN-PÀYRO'.L

L0/23/23 FD-HÀZÀRDOUS rTEM 01-5-555422,00
21754t FrRE TOOTS É EQUIPMENT

LO/L5/23 TH-OCT '23 PHONES OL-5-425L27.00

L542466O TELEP¡IONE

r0/L5/23 TH-OCT '23 PHONES 01-5-705505.00

L5424660 TELEPHONE

L0/r5/23 rH-ocr '23 p¡roNEs 01-5-350531.00

L5424660 TELEP¡IONE

L0/L5/23 TH-OCT '23 P¡TONES 01-5-300531.00

L5424660 TEÍ,EPIIONE

L0/L5/23 TH-OCT '23 pnONES 01-5-200s31.00
L5424660 TEI.EPIIONE

LO/r5/23 TH-OCT '23 PHONES 01-5-00s531.00
L5424660 ÀDMIN TELEPHONE

lo/Ls/23 rH-ocÎ '23 pHoNEs 01-5-100s31.00
L5424660 TELEPIIoNE

10/L5/23 T¡r-Ocr '23 pHoNES 01-5-2?5531.00

L5424660 TEI,EP¡TONE

L0/L7/23 ÀcDMy RD rTs 05119200003 01-5-?03307.00
OCTz3ACDMYRD STREEÍI.IGHTS

L0/30/23 pD-JUDy SUppI.rES 01-5-500202.00

1O3OEMPREIMB COMMT'NITY RELÀTNS

L7L.44 L39L1 Lt/O8/23

215.44 !39L7 LL/09/23

L87.46 L3gL',t LL/08/23

71.96 1,39L7 LL/08/23

22s.00 L39L8 u/08/23

384.70 t39r9 LL/O8/23

53.98 L392O LL/05/23

L7L6.r4 L392L LL/0e/23

L624.22 t392r Lr/08/23

1415.15 L392r LL/08/23

173.81 L3922 LL/08/23

15.00 L3923 LL/O8/23

0.91 13924 LL/08/23

r.24 L3924 Lt/08/23

3.62 L3924 rr/O8/23

2.O3 L3924 rr/08/23

4.04 L3924 LL/08/23

3.92 L3924 LL/08/23

3.48 t3924 rL/08/23

0.96 L3924 LL/08/23

44.69 L392s rr/08/23

POWELL!'UD .'UDITII POWELL 52.05 t3926 LL/08/23



Lr/02/23
03:42 pm

vendor

Town of Norwich Àccounts payable

Check Warrant Report # 1071 Current Prio! Next FY Invoices For Fund (ceneral)
For Check Àcct 03(General) A1I check #s fL/O8/23 To LL/08/23 Ê Fund 01

Page 3 of 5

ashleyw

fnvoice

Date

Invoice Description
Invoice Nunber

Àmount

Paid
Chêck Check

Nunber DateAccount

POI{ELLJUD .'UDITII POWEII,

L&D SÀ¡'E L & D SÀFETY MARKTNG

L0 / 30 /23 PD-\'UDY SUPPLTES

lO3OEMPREI¡{B

09 / L6 / 23 DPW-PAVEMENT MÀRKING

0067-13085.4

01-5-500501.00
ÀDMINISTRÀTION

01-5-?03319.00

PÀVEMENT MARKING

25.85 L3926 tL/08/23

14651.25 t3927 !r/08/23

L&M LÊM SERVICE CONTRÀCTORST

LEÀl' LEÀ!' CÀPTTAI, FUNDING, I,LC

MISC I,ILY TRÀ.]MÀN

MISC TITY TRA.JMAN

NÀT'L ¡NS MÀDTSON NÀTIONÀT, Í,IFE ¡NS

NÀT'L INS MADISON NATIONÀ¡. I.IFE INS

NAT¡L INS MADISON NÀTIONA¡, ¡.IFE XNS

NÀT'I. INS MÀDISON NATIONÀI LIFE INS

NAT'Í, TNS MÀDISON NÀTIONAT LIEE INS

NATI], INS MÀDISON NÀTTONÀI, LTFE INS

NATIT, INS MADISON NATIONÀI LIFE INS

NAI'I. INS MADISON NÀTIONÀI. TIFE INS

NÀT'L INS MÀDISON NATIONÀ]. TIFE INS

HERBERT MATTIIEII IIERBERÍ

MÀYER MAYER E MÀYER

MODERN MODERN CI,EÀNERS 6 TÀII.ORS

MOTOROLÀ MOTOROLÀ SOLUTIONS/ INC

PBÀ NEIÍ ENGI.AND PBÀ, INC

NRR¡I NORTIIE.AST RESOURCE RECOVE

OT]S oTIS ELEVATOR Cor¡p¡¡¡y

PÀTRIOT PÀTRIOT PROPERTTES, INC

0141-1308s.5

LO/24/23 FD-DRY HYDRANT INSTÀ!Í.

tL4862
LO /3L /23 PD-COPXER LEÀSE

1555657 4

L0/L9/23 TC-LrLY Mr,c EÍ.ECTTON TRN

lOlgMLGREIMB

LO / 24 / 23 TC-LI].Y CONFERENCE

lO24EMPREIMB

PAVEMENT MARKING

01-5-555635.00
DRY IIYDRANT

01-5-500501.00
ÀDMINISTP"ATION

01-5-100615.00

DUES/!,f¡GS/EDUC

01-s-10061s.00
DUES /!.!TGS/EDUC

01-5-005124.00
DISÀBT],ITYIL¡FE INSUR

01-5-703124 ,00

DISÀBILITY/LIFE

01-5*555124 . 00

DISÀBILITY/ITFE INSURANCE

01-5-425124.00
DISÀBILITY/],IFE INSUR

01-5-500124.00
DISÀBIIITY,/LIFE INS

01-5-005124 .00

DISÀBILITY/LIFE INSUR

oL-5-200t24.OO

DISABILITY/I,IFE INS

0r.-s-100124.00

DISÀBIIITY/I,IFE INS

01-5-704124 .00

DISÀBTI,ITY/LIFE

01-s-555340.00
EMS EDUC/TRNG

01-2-001120.00
EMPLOYEE JUDGEMENT ORDER

01-s-s00s83.00

I'NIFORMS CI.EANING

01-5-500301.00
RADIO MAINTENÀNCE

01-2-001117.00
T'NION DUES PAYÀBI,E

01-5-70530s.00

RECYCI.ING

01-5-?0610? .00

EI,EVATOR MÀINTENÀNCE

01-s-300360.00

SOETWARE MÀINT/UPDÀTE

01-s-42s200.00
Instlucto!/Contractor l'eê

7t12.55 L3927

9200.00 L3928 rL/08/23

82.00 L3929 LLIOS/23

49.7A L3930 LL/08/23

3s0.00 13930 Lr/08/23

91.0? L393L LLl08/23

28s.7L L3931 Lr/OS/23

62.13 L393L tL/08/23

65.52 L393L LL/OS/23

t78.L2 L393L LL/08/23

L92.24 X393L LL/08/23

r24.5L L393L LL/OS/23

110.98 L393L LL/08/23

94.35 L393r rLl08/23

180.00 L3932 rL/Oe/23

25.00 L3933 LL/05/23

9?.50 L393A LL/08/23

1841.55 13935 Lr/05/23

22s.36 L3936 L!/08/23

LgL.20 L393'1 LL/08/23

3rL.48 L3938 rI/08/23

5300.00 L3939 LL/08/23

L0/L6/23

L0/L6/23

r0/L6/23

r0/L6/23

r0 /L6/ 23

LO/L6/23

LO/L6/23

L0/L6/23

r0/L6/23

LO/23/23

LL/03/23

r0/3L/23

09/26/23

Lr/0L/23

LO/2s/23

L0/17 /23

o7 /L8 /23

09/27 / 23

TH-NOV ¡23 LIEE INS

1585698

TH-NOV '23 LTFE INS

1585698

TH.NOV i23 LITE INS

1 s856 98

TII-NOV ¡23 LIFE INS

1585698

TH-NOV '23 Í,IFE INS

1585698

T¡{-NOV I23 ¡IFE INS

x585698

T¡I-NOV I 23 LIFE INS

1585698

TH-NOV I23 LIFE INS

1585698

TH-NOV I23 I,IFE INS

1s8s698

FD-MATT CPR TRAINING

lO23EMPRIE!{B

Payroll Transfer
PR-IL/03/23

PD-UNIFORM CLEÀNTNG

4322Lt

PD-CTIRGRS. CÀBTES E BÀTTS

824L722788

PD-I'NION DUES

36040

DPW-REI,EÀSE *704306

1 354 03

T¡{-NOV '23 ELEVÀTOR SRVC

100401346598

LTSTERS-ÀNNUAI SUPPORT

rNv23044506

P6R-SITE PREP

'7 L9346

EDSOPE PETE EDSON CONSTRUCTION 2357.6L 13940 rL/05/23



LL/02/23

03:42 pm

vendor

Iown of, Norwích Àccounts payable

Check llarrant Report # 1071 Current Prior Next Fy Invoices For Fund (Genelat)
For Check Àcct o3(ceneral) À1I check #s LL/09/ß Io LI/OB/23 e Fund 01

Page 4 of 5

ashleyw

Invoice

Date

Invoice Description
Invoice Nunber

Àmount

Paid
check Check

Nunbe! DateÀccount

PTKE PIKE INDUSTRIES INC

PIONEERMÀ PIONEER MANUFACTURING CO

09 /L5/ 23 DPW-COLD PATCH

L249490

LO / L9 / 23 PER-I{IIITE STRIPER PAINT

INV907X97

01-s-703317.00
CP"ACK SEAIING

oL-5-425324.OO

HNTIY 
',INE 

¡¿ARKING

3L4.64 L39ÂL Lr/0e/23

523.90 13942 LL/08/23

ROBERT IIÀ ROBERT IIAI.F L0/30/23

L0/L2/23

LO/23/23

L0/23/23

L0/23/23

ro/23/23

t0/30/23

r0/30/23

LO/L4/23

62107LL3

EIN-,toYcE I¡ùK END 10/27

627 47 599

DPW-SEÀL O RING

rNv3050515

DPW-BACKI{OE SRVC E REPR

scIw75943t
DPÍI-BÀCKHOE SRVC E REPR

scrNv759431

DPW_UNTFORM CLEANING

L01 027 0L8'l

DPW-I'NIFORM CLTANING

L0'10210L87

DPW-UNIFORM CI.EANING

L07021L965

DPW-['NIFORM CI.EANING

L07021L965

DPIÍ-STORM WATER DITC¡IING

2ALO6587-002

E'IN-JOYCE WK END 1 01-5-200112 _ 10

TINANCE OFFXCER IIAGE

01-5-200112 .10

FINANCE OFI'ICER !ÍAGE

01-5-703403.00

PARTS & SUPPI.IES

01-5-?03401 .00

OUTSIDE REPÀIRS

01-5-703403.00

PARTS E SUPPI,IES

01-5-704311 .00

IJNIFORMS

01-s-703311.00
T.lNIFORMS

01-5-703311.00

UNIFORMS

01-5-?04311.00
UNIFORMS

01-5-703315.00

OTHER PRO.'ECTS

01-5-005615.00

DUES/!.rTS/EDUC

0x-5-706113.00
REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE

01-2-001111.00
VMERS GRP B PAYÀBIE

01-2-001113.00

VMERS GRP C PÀYÀBLE

0r.-2-001111.00

VMERS GRP B PÀYÀBLE

01-2-001113.00

VMERS GRP C PÀYABLE

01-5-703507.00

SUPPLTES

01-s-706109.00

BUILDING SUPPLIES

01-5-350610.00
OFFTCE SUPP',IES

01-5-3s0610.00
OI'FICE SUPPI,IES

01-s-706109.00

BUTLDING SUPPLIES

01-5-706109.00
BUILDING SUPPI,TES

01-5-s00s01.00
ADMINXSTRå,ÎION

88.16 !3943 !r/O8/23

x978.06 L3943 LL/08/23

74.04 L3944 LL/08/23

2323.9r L394A LL/08/23

2344.54 13944 LL/08/23

60.00 L3945 LL/08/23

210.2L L394s LL/O8/23

269.2L L3945 LL/08/23

60.00 L3945 rL/08/23

248L.54 L3946 LL/OS/23

10.00 L394'7 LL/08/23

192.50 L3948 Ir/08/23

5914.67 L3949 L!/08/23

L990.67 L3949 Lr/08/23

5079.11 13949 LL/05/23

275t.3L L3949 LL/08/23

23.99 L3950 LL/08/23

5.58 L3950 LL/Oe/23

36.L4 r39s0 rL/O8/23

3.29 L3950 rL/08/23

!49.97 L3950 Lr/08/23

287.97 L3950 rL/08/23

SOUTHWORT SOUTHWORTH-MILTON, INC

souTltwoRT souTHwoRT¡t-MTLTON. rNC

souTHwoRT souTIu{oRlH-MIITON, XNC

UNIFIRST I'NTFIRSTCORPORAÎION

I'NIFXRST I'NTFIRST CORPORATION

UNIFTRST I'NIFIRSTCORPORATTON

T'NIEIRST UNIFIRST CORPORATION

UNITEDREN UNITED RENTÀ',S (NORTH AME

VLCT VERMONT LEAGUE OF CITTES LO / L8 / 23 TH-CHERY! MUNIBUDGET23

vI,s VERMONT LIFE SÀFETY/ LC

3556

LO/09/23 T¡I-PHONE LTNE REPÀTR

48843

IO/ 06/ 23 Payloll Transfer
PR-L9/06/23

L0/06/23 Payroll Transf,er

PR-Lo/06/23

fO /20 /23 Payroll fransf,er
PR-Lo/20/23

LO /20 /23 Payroll Transfer
PÈ-Lo/20/23

LO / 02 / 23 DPI{-WTRELESS MOUSE

241555800

LO/09/23 rM-SPoNcEs

24L720355

L0 / 19 / 23 P&Z-OEETCE SITPP1IES

24L91 L27 9

L0/20/23 P&Z-PENS

24L9995s7

L0/23/23 B&c-roIlELs

242039123

LO / 24 / 23 B&G-SANITIZER

242068556

LO/24/23 PD-TOWEI.S e K-CUPS

24201 4606

VMERS VMERS DB

VMERS VMERS DB

VMERS VMERS DB

vMERS VMERS DB

IiBMÀSON I.{.8. MASON CO./ INC

IiBMASON W,B. MASON CO., INC

WBMASON I,t,B. MASON CO./ INC

T|BMASON W.B. MASON CO.. INC

WBMASON !f.8. MASON CO,, INC

WBMASON Í1.8. MÀSON CO./ INC

WBMÀSON It.B. MASON CO.. INC 25.99 L3950 LL/08/23



LL/02/23

03:42 pm

vendor

Town of Norwich Accounts Påyable

Check Warrant Report * 1071 Current Prior Nêxt FY Invoices For Fund (ceneral)
For Check Àcct 03(ceneral) ÀU check *s LL/08/23 1o LL/08/23 Ê Fund 01

Page 5 of 5

ashleyw

Invoice

Datê

Invoice D€scription
Invoice Nunber

Àmount

Paid
Check Check

Number DateÀccount

WBMÀSON !{.8. MASON CO., rNC

!{B!!ASON If .8. MASON CO., INC

LO/24/23 PD-TOI|ELS

24207 4606

L0/25/23 PD-K-CUPS

242L03836

01-5-48s301.00

BUILDING SUPP].IES

01-5-50050x.00

ÀDMINTSTRATION

49.18 L395O LL/08/23

1s.98 L39s0 rr/08/23

K-CUPS

MASON CO., rNC BEG-BROOM

242L33288

01-5-706109.00

BUILDING SUPPIIES

01-s-706109.00

BU¡',DING SUPPLIES

0x-5-555422.00

FIRE TOOI.S Ê EQUIPMENT

11.06 139s0 1X

I{BMÀSON I{.8. MÀSON CO.. INC LO / 09 / 23 B&G-BLEÀC¡¡ CREDIT

cNt2209490

WITMER llrTMER PrrBr.rc SA!.ETY GROU L0/20/23 FD-SURVTVOR &ED

rNv341600

Report Totaj.

To the Treasurê! of Town of Norwich, We hereby certify
that there is due to the severa]. persons whose niles arê
listed hereon the sm against each nile and that thele
are good and suf,f,icient vouchers supporting the palmêntE

aggregating $ ****89r011.28

Let this be your orde! for the palments of these mounts

Staff, Àccountant Town Manager:

AshIey

SELECTBOARD:

-23.LL L3950 LL/05/23

490.93 L39sL rL/O8/23

89011 .28

Brennan Duffy

Marcia Calloway

Chair

llary layton
více Chair

PrisciIla Vincent Roger Àrnold Pm Snith


	20231101 Request to spend from Fund 45
	00 Selectboard Packet-11-08-2023-indexed
	01 11-08-2023 Selectboard Regular Agenda
	1.5 Capital Planning Power Point 11-8-23
	02 Committee Appt CForbush
	P.O. Box 376

	03 Town Clerk req to spend for shelving
	05 Fire Dept spending request
	06 Police Memo
	07 Memorandum to Interim TM for Hemlock Road Update_11.2.23
	09 DRAFT Selectboard Minutes 10-25-23
	10 11-08 Corresp
	10-23 DWilberding
	10-23 PSmith
	10-25 PSmith
	10-26 ECFiber
	Annual Report and Proposed District Budget 2024
	Vermont’s Communications Union Districts (CUDs) are obligated to annually “approve and cause to be distributed to the legislative body of each district member for review and comment an annual report of [the district’s] activities, together with a fina...
	Your town is one of 31 members of the East Central Vermont Telecommunications District, which owns the business operated under the trade name ECFiber, and this document is provided to the Selectboards of the district’s member towns in conformance with...
	Report of Activities October 1, 2022 – September 30, 2023


	10-31 PSmith
	11-01 Advance Directives flier 2 B&W
	11-01 Pvincent Budget.msg
	11-01 PVincent
	11-02 SRichards

	11 AP Warrants


	Name: charlie forbush 
	Address: 40 overlook dr
	Day Phone: 8024784121
	Evening Phone: 8024784121
	Email: charliewforbush@icloud.com
	What Committee, Board, etc: norwich rec council member
	Terms: 
	Years: 
	Radio Button10: Yes
	Radio Button11: Off
	Text13: no
	Text14: 
	Text1: I grew up and participated In a lot of the activities of norwich rec 
	Text3: I am a member of the student council at hhs
	Text4: my dad used to be a member so I have some prior knowledge of waht happens in meetings 
	Text2: 
	Text5: 
	Text8: 
	Text15: 
	Company: Hanover High School 
	Location: Hanover NH
	Title: Student 
	Text6: Student 
	Text16: 
	Text7: 
	Text17: 
	Text18: 
	Radio Button8: Yes
	Text9: 
	Text19: 
	Text20: 
	Text10: 
	Text21: 
	Text22: 
	Text23: 
	Text11: charlieforbush
	Text12: 9/24/2023


